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OF THE 

ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION 
AND 

DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION 

In the Matter of: 
 
 ROD R. BLAGOJEVICH, 
    Commission No.  2019PR00061 
  Attorney-Respondent, 
 
   No.  6186764. 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING BOARD 

DEFAULT PROCEEDING 

The hearing in this matter was held on February 25, 2020, at the Chicago offices of the 

Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission, before a Hearing Board Panel consisting of 

Carl (Carlo) E. Poli, Chair, Jennifer W. Russell, and Jim Hofner. Respondent was not present.  

Sheldon M. Sorosky appeared on Respondent’s behalf.  Christopher R. Heredia and Jonathan M. 

Wier appeared on behalf of the Administrator and recommended that Respondent be disbarred. 

We have considered the following: the Administrator's one-count Complaint, a copy of 

which is attached as Exhibit 1; the Order entered on September 10, 2019, deeming the 

allegations of the Complaint admitted, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 2; and the 

Administrator’s Exhibits 1-6, which were admitted into evidence. 

Respondent, the former Governor of the State of Illinois, was convicted of committing 

numerous crimes while he was in office.  Those crimes included wire fraud, attempt to commit 

extortion, corrupt solicitation, conspiracy to commit extortion, conspiracy to commit corrupt 

solicitation, and making false statements to the Federal Bureau of Investigation, in violation of 

Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 371, 666(a)(1)(B), 1001(a)(2), 1343, 1346, and 1951(a).  Respondent’s 
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convictions of these crimes were upheld by the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh 

Circuit.  The Supreme Court of the United States denied Respondent’s petitions for writ of 

certiorari. On October 26, 2011, the Illinois Supreme Court placed Respondent on interim 

suspension, which is still in effect. 

Respondent was represented by counsel throughout this proceeding but elected not to file 

an answer, comply with discovery requests, appear for deposition, or appear at the hearing in this 

matter. While he was incarcerated, Respondent’s appearance at the hearing had been waived.  

The Panel takes judicial notice, however, that Respondent’s sentence was commuted and he was 

released from prison on February 18, 2020. Therefore, it was possible for Respondent to appear 

for his disciplinary hearing. 

There are numerous factors that aggravate Respondent’s misconduct.  As a former 

Assistant State’s Attorney and elected official, Respondent was well aware of his obligation to 

uphold the law, and, as governor, he took an oath to faithfully discharge the duties of the office 

of governor to the best of his ability. Instead of doing so, he sought to further his own interests 

by engaging in a pattern of dishonest and deceptive conduct.  While Respondent, by his attorney, 

acknowledged the fact of his convictions, he has not acknowledged that his conduct was 

wrongful or expressed any remorse.  His failure to appear for his disciplinary hearing 

demonstrates a lack of respect for the disciplinary process and the legal profession. We have 

considered that Respondent has no prior discipline, but this minimal mitigation does not impact 

our recommendation. 

The following cases cited by the Administrator support the recommendation of 

disbarment:  In re Pappas, 92 Ill. 2d 243 (1982); In re Rosenthal, 73 Ill. 2d 46 (1978). 

Based on Respondent’s egregious misconduct, the substantial amount of aggravation, the 

case law presented by the Administrator, and the lack of case law or any mitigation evidence 



presentedby Respondent, we conclude that a recommendation of disbarment is warranted.

Accordingly,

1. Respondent's counsel accepted electronic service of the Complaint and

accompanying documents. A copy of the Entry of Appearance and Acceptance of

Service Pursuant to Rule 214(d) filed on August 8, 2019 is attached as Exhibit 3.

2. The allegations of the Complaint were deemed admitted in an Order filed on

September 10, 2019. A copy of that Order is attached as Exhibit 2.

3. In consideration of the Order deeming the allegations of the Complaint admitted,

we find Respondent committed the misconduct charged in the Complaint.

4. Given Respondent's serious misconduct, the significant aggravation, and the case

law cited by the Administrator, we recommend that Respondent, Rod R.

Blagojevich, be disbarred.

5. The Panel has concluded that this report format will adequately and appropriately

communicate its recommendation to the Court.

Respectfully submitted,

Carl (Carlo) E. Poli
Jennifer W. Russell

Jim Hofner

CERTIFICATION

I, Kenneth G. Jablonski, Clerk of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission
ofthe Supreme Court of Illinois and keeper ofthe records, hereby certifies that the foregoing isa
true copy of the Report and Recommendation of the Hearing Board, approved by each Panel
member, entered in the above entitled causeof record filed in my officeon March3, 2020.

24 . u^lduxu^
Henneth G. Jablonsk^ Clerk of the

Attorney Registration and Disciplinary
Commission of the Supreme Court of Illinois

MAIN LIB #1239632 vl
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BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD
OF THE

ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION
AND

DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION

In the Matter of:

ROD R. BLAGOJEVICH,

Attorney-Respondent

No. 6186764.

COMPLAINT

Jerome Larkin, Administrator of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission,

by his attorney, Christopher Heredia, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 761(d), complains of

Respondent, Rod R. Blagojevich, who was licensed to practice law in Illinois on May 10, 1984,

and alleges that Respondent has engaged in the following conduct which subjects Respondent to

discipline pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 770:

COUNTI

{Criminal convictionfor wirefraud, attempt to commit extortion, corrupt solicitation, conspiracy
to commit extortion, conspiracy to commit corrupt solicitation to defraud the United States, and

makingfalse statements to agents ofthe Federal Bureau ofInvestigation)

1. At all times alleged in this complaint, Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343

and 1346 made it afederal criminal offense, punishable by up to 20 years of imprisonment and a

fine ofup to $250,000, to transmit or cause to be transmitted by means ofwire communication in

interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose

of executing a scheme or artifice to defraud, after having devised such a scheme or artifice,

which included ascheme or artifice to deprive another ofthe intangible right ofhonest services.

2. At all times alleged in this complaint, Title 18, United States Code, Section

1951(a) made ita federal criminal offense, punishable by up to 20 years ofimprisonment and a
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fine of up to $250,000, to obstruct, delay, or affect commerce or the movement of any article or
commodity in commerce byextortion.

3. At all times alleged in this complaint, Title 18, United States Code, Section

666(a)(1)(B) made it afederal criminal offense, punishable by up to 10 years of imprisonment

and afine of up to $250,000, to corruptly solicit or demand anything of value, as an agent of a

state, for the benefit ofany person, intending to be influenced or rewarded in connection with

any business, transaction, or series of transactions of such government involving any thing of

value of $5,000 or more, when the organization, government, or agency receives more than

$10,000 annually in federal funding.

4. At all times alleged in this complaint, Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

made it afederal criminal offense, punishable by up to 5years of imprisonment and afine of up

to $250,000, to conspire to commit any offense against the United States or defraud the United

States or any of its agencies for any purpose in any matter, and one or more persons do any act to

effect the object of that conspiracy.

5. At all times alleged in this complaint, Title 18, United States Code, Section

1001(a)(2) made it a federal criminal offense, punishable by up to 5 years imprisonment and a

fine of up to $250,000, to knowingly and willfully make any materially false, fictitious, or

fraudulent statement or representation in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive,

legislative, orjudicial branch ofthe government ofthe United States.

6. In November 2002, Respondent was elected Governor ofthe State ofIllinois, and

was sworn in as the 40th governor on January 13, 2003, having previously served as an assistant

state's attorney with the Cook County State's Attorney's Office, and a member of both the

Illinois House ofRepresentatives and the United States House ofRepresentatives. Respondent



was re-elected to the office in November 2006, and was sworn in for asecond term on January 8,
2007.

7. Beginning in or about 2002 to on or about December 9, 2008, Respondent, along

with others, devised and participated in ascheme to deprive the people of the State of Illinois of

their right to honest services of Respondent in his capacity as Governor. As part of that

fraudulent scheme, Respondent used the powers of the Office of the Governor to take

governmental actions to obtain financial benefits for Respondent. Respondent's actions included:

a. attempting to obtain campaign contributions and employment in exchange
for appointing a United States Senator to fill the vacancy created by then
President-Elect Barack Obama;

b. soliciting $25,000 in campaign contributions from Patrick Magoon, Chief
Executive Officer of Children's Memorial Hospital, in exchange for
enacting legislation to increase the Illinois Medicaid reimbursement rate
for specialty-care pediatric physicians; and

c. soliciting $100,000 in campaign contributions from racetrack owner John
Johnston in exchange for enacting legislation for the renewal ofa subsidy
requiring Illinois casinos to share a portion of their profits with Illinois
racetracks.

8. As part of Respondent's conduct, Respondent made and participated in several

telephone calls on October 17, 2008, November 12, 2008, November 13,2008, and December 4,

2008 with various parties regarding details to execute the fraudulent scheme, described in

paragraph 7, above.

9. In addition to Respondent's conduct, described in paragraphs 7 and 8, above, in

March 2005, Respondent made material false statements to agents of the Federal Bureau of

Investigation ("FBI") during their investigation into potential corruption and fraud within the

Illinois Governor's Office by stating, in summary, that he attempted to keep politics and

government separate, and did not keep track ofcampaign contribution amounts or sources.



10. On December 9, 2008, Respondent was arrested by the FBI and charged in a

federal criminal complaint with conspiracy to commit mail fraud and wire fraud, as well as

solicitation of bribery.

11. On January 29, 2009, following a four-day hearing before the Illinois Senate,

Respondent was impeached from his position as Governor of the State of Illinois in two separate

and unanimous votes finding Respondent guilty ofabuses ofpower. As aresult ofboth votes, the

Illinois Senate removed Respondent from office and disqualified him from holding any political

office in Illinois in the future.

12. On February 4, 2010, a federal grand jury returned a second superseding

indictment against Respondent and five other co-defendants, charging Respondent with 24

counts of federal criminal offenses related to racketeering, conspiracy, wire fraud, extortion,

corrupt solicitation, and making material false statements to FBI agents, as a result ofhis actions

while elected to the Office ofGovernor of the State ofIllinois. The superseding indictment was

filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District ofIllinois, captioned United

States ofAmerica v. Rod Blagojevich, case number 08 CR 888-1, and assigned to the Hon. James

B. Zagel ("Judge Zagel"). A copy of the second superseding indictment is attached as Exhibit

One.

13. On August 17, 2010, following a nearly two-month jury trial, the jury found

Respondent guilty of Count 24 only, finding that Respondent knowingly and willfully made

materially false statements during interviews with FBI agents during their investigation of

Respondent, for stating to agents that he attempted to keep politics and government separate, and

did not keep track ofcampaign contribution amounts or sources. (Exh. 1, at 105-107) The jury



did not return verdicts on the remaining 23 counts, and Judge Zagel declared amistrial as those
counts.

14. Following the mistrial on Counts 1through 23, the United States Attorney's

Office for the Northern District of Illinois retried Respondent on 20 counts of the second

superseding indictment, described in paragraph 12, above.

15. On June 27, 2011, as aresult of Respondent's re-trial, the jury found Respondent

guilty on 17 counts, which included Count 3, 5through 13, 15 through 18, and 21 through 23 of

the second superseding indictment. The jury found Respondent not guilty on Count 20, and
Judge Zagel declared a mistrial onCounts 14 and 19.

16. In finding Respondent guilty on the 17 counts, described in paragraph 15, above,

the jury found that, as Governor:

a. Respondent committed wire fraud by discussing financial benefits which
he could obtain in exchange for 1) appointing a United States Senator to
fill the vacancy left by then President-elect Barack Obama, 2) enacting
legislation that would benefit to Children's Memorial Hospital and the
racetrack industry, as charged in Counts 3, and 5 through 13 of the
indictment (Exh. 1, at 44-66,68-76);

b. Respondent committed bribery and attempted extortion by trying to obtain
campaign contributions from the Chief Executive Officer of Children's
Memorial Hospital in exchange for enacting legislation intended to benefit
the hospital's physicians, ascharged inCounts 15 and 16 of the indictment
(Exh. 1,at 78-79);

c. Respondent conspired to bribe and extort racetrack owner John Johnston
by attempting to obtain campaign contributions in exchange for enacting
legislation which benefitted the racetrack industry, as charged in Counts
17 and 18 of the indictment (Exh. 1, at 80-87); and

d. Respondent, along with others, attempted to extort and conspired to
commit extortion and bribery by devising and discussing methods to
obtain benefits for himself and his wife, Patricia Blagojevich, including
high-ranking federal government positions, leadership positions with
various organizations, and campaign contributions, in exchange for



appointment to the United States Senate, as charged in Counts 21 through
23 of the indictment (Exh. 1, at 90-104).

17. On August 25, 2011, the Administrator filed a Petition for Interim Suspension

Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 774 requesting that the Court issue a rule to show cause and

suspend Respondent, on an interim basis, from the practice of law immediately and until further

order of the Court as a result ofhis convictions, referred to in paragraphs 15 and 16, above.

18. On October 26, 2011, based on the Administrator's petition, referred to in

paragraph 17, above, the Court entered an ordersuspending Respondent from the practice of law

and until further order of the Court, which became effective immediately. Respondent has

remained suspended from the practice of lawon an interim basissince that date.

19. On December 7, 2011, Judge Zagel sentenced Respondent to a total of 168

months of incarceration in the United States Bureau of Prisons ("BOP"), and 24 months of

supervised release following his release from BOP custody.

20. On December 20, 2011, Respondent filed a notice of appeal in relation to his

criminal matter. The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit ("Seventh Circuit")

heldoral arguments in the matteron December 13,2013.

21. On July 21, 2015, the Seventh Circuit issued its opinion in relation to

Respondent's appeal, in which itvacated Respondent's convictions as to Counts 5, 6,21,22,23,

vacated Respondent's 168-month sentence, affirmed Respondent's convictions on Counts 3, 7

through 13, 15 through 18, and 24, and remanded the case back to the District Court for retrial on

the vacated convictions and resentencing.

22. On March 28, 2016, after Respondent sought to appeal his criminal matter to the

Supreme Court of the United States ("U.S. Supreme Court"), the U.S. Supreme Court denied

Respondent's petition for writof certiorari.



23. On August 12,2016, based on the Seventh Circuit's remand for sentencing, Judge

Zagel entered an amended judgment, and resentenced Respondent to a total of 168 months of

incarceration in the BOP on Counts 3, 7 through 13, 15 through 18, and 24. A certified copy of

the amended judgment is attached as Exhibit Two.

24. On August 23, 2016, Respondent filed a notice of appeal in relation to the

amended judgment and sentence, described in paragraph 23, above. On June 13,2017, based on

Respondent's appeal, the Seventh Circuit issued its opinion affirming the amended judgment and

sentence.

25. Shortly thereafter, Respondent sought to appeal his matter in relation to the

amended judgment and sentence to the U.S. Supreme Court. On April 16, 2018, the U.S.

Supreme Court denied Respondent's petition for writ of certiorari. As a result, Respondent had

exhausted all available remedies and appeals, which left standing Respondent's 13 convictions

and corresponding sentences on Counts 3, 7 through 13, 15 through 18, and 24, of the second

superseding indictment.

26. By reason of the conduct and conviction described above, Respondent has

engaged in the following misconduct:

a. committing criminal acts that reflect adversely on his
honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other
respects, by conduct including committing and being
convicted of the offenses of wire fraud, attempt to commit
extortion, corrupt solicitation, conspiracy to commit
extortion, conspiracy to defraud the United States, and
making material false statements to agents of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, in violation of Title 18 U.S.C.
Sections 1343, 1346, 1951(a), 666(a)(1)(B), 371, and
1001(a)(2), in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) of the Illinois
Rules of Professional Conduct (1990); and



b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misrepresentation, by conduct including engaging in wire
fraud, attempting to commit extortion, corrupt solicitation,
conspiracy to commit extortion, conspiracy to defraud the
United States, by using the powers of the Office of the
Governor to appoint a United States Senator, and enact
legislation involving increased Medicaid reimbursement
rates, and renewed profit sharing with Illinois racetracks in
exchange for obtain obtaining campaign contributions,
political support, and employment, by making and
participating in phone calls, solicitation, and extortion
attempts, in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. Sections 1343,
1346, 1951(a), 666(a)(1)(B), 371, and 1001(a)(2), in
violation of Rule 8.4(a)(4) of the Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct (1990).

WHEREFORE, the Administrator respectfully requests that this matter be assigned to a

panel of the Hearing Board of the Commission, that ahearing be held pursuant to Rule 761(d),

and that the Hearing Panel make findings of fact, conclusions of fact and law, and a

recommendation forsuch discipline as is warranted.

Respectfully Submitted,

Jerome Larkin, Administrator
Attorney Registration and

Disciplinary Commission

By: /s/ Christopher Heredia
Christopher Heredia

Christopher Heredia
Counsel for Administrator
One Prudential Plaza
130East Randolph Drive, Suite 1500
Chicago, Illinois 60601
Telephone: (312) 565-2600
Email: ARDCeService@iardc.orp
Email: cherediafgiiardc.org
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^Case: i:08-cr-00888 Document #: 231 Filed: 02/04/10 Page 1 of 112 PagelD #:1998
»

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION *

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
No. 08 CR 888
Violations: Title 18, Sections 371,
666(a)(1), 1001(a)(2), 1343, 1346,
1951(a), 1962(c), and 1962(d)

Judge James B. Zagel
MAGISTRATE JUDGE ..COX

Second Superseding Indictment

>Tl L E D
count onb w-imi"

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY charges: MICHAEL w. dobqins
CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COUf

1. At times material to this Second Superseding Indictment:

Relevant Entities and Individuals

a. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH was the Governor of the

State of Illinois. He was elected Governor in 2002 and was reelected Governor

in 2006. ROD BLAGOJEVICH previously served as a Member of the United

StatesHouse ofRepresentatives from theFifthCongressional District inIllinois.

b. Friends ofBlagojevich wasestablishedin or aboutJune 2000

and was a private entity existing under the laws of Illinois as a campaign

committee for the purpose of supporting the election of defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH as Governor of Illinois, and was the principal campaign

fundraising vehicle for ROD BLAGOJEVICH. Friends of Blagojevich

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,
ALONZO MONK,
JOHN HARRIS, and
ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH
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maintained offices at 4147 North Ravenswood, Chicago, Illinois. Although

various individuals, including, at times, Christopher Kelly, Alonzo Monk, and

Robert Blagojevich, held the office of chairman of Friends of Blagojevich, at all

times the activities and financial affairs of Friends of Blagojevich were controlled

and directed by ROD BLAGOJEVICH, for whose benefit Friends of Blagojevich

was operated.

c. Christopher Kelly was a Chicago-area businessman and a

principal campaign fundraiser for defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH. Kelly

served as Chairman of Friends of Blagojevich from in or about early 2004 until

in or about August 2005. With the knowledge and permission of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, Kelly at times exercised substantial influence over certain

activities of the Office of the Governor.

d. Antoin Rezko was a Chicago-area businessman and a principal

campaign fundraiser for defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH. With the knowledge

and permission of ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Rezko at times exercised substantial

influence over certain activities of the Office of the Governor.

e. Alonzo Monk was a long-time associate of defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, and among other things served as his general counsel while a

Member of Congress, as campaign manager for his 2002 and 2006 gubernatorial

campaigns, on his transition team after his election in November 2002, and as
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his Chief of Staff from in or about January 2003 until in or about December

2005. Beginning in or about early 2007, Monk worked as a lobbyist, doing

business as AM3 Consulting, Ltd. As alobbyist, Monk principally represented
businesses with interests involving Illinois state government, including
businesses in the horse racing industry. In addition, Monk served as Chairman

of Friends of Blagojevich from in or about December 2006 to in or about July
2007.

f. Robert Blagojevich is the brother of defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH. Beginningin or aboutAugust 2008, Robert Blagojevich served
as the chairman ofFriends ofBlagojevich.

g. Beginning inor about late 2005, John Harris was employed

by the State of Illinois as the Chief of Staff to the Governor, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH.

h. Stuart Levine was a member of the Illinois Health Faculties

Planning Board and the Board ofTrustees of the Teachers' Retirement System.

i. The Illinois Health Facilities PlanningBoard C'Planning

Board") was acommission of the State of Illinois, established by statute, whose

members were appointed by the Governor of the State of Illinois. State law

required an entity seeking to build a hospital, medical office building, or other
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medical facility in Illinois to obtain apermit, known as a "Certificate of Need,"

from the Planning Board prior to beginning construction.

ii. TheTeachers' Retirement System ofthe State ofIllinois

("TRS") was a public pension plan created by Illinois law for the purpose of

providing pension, survivor, and disability benefits for teachers and

administrators employed in Illinois public schools except in the City ofChicago.

TRS was funded byannual contributions from teachers, their employers, and the

State of Illinois, as well as investment income. The activities of TRS were

directed by a Board of Trustees. Certain of the trustees, among them Stuart

Levine, were appointed by the Governor, while other trustees were elected by

teachers and annuitants. Among itsother responsibihties, the BoardofTrustees

reviewed and voted to approve or reject proposals by private investment

management companies to manage funds on behalf of TRS.

i. William F. Cellini, Sr„ was aSpringfield, Illinois, businessman

and had longstanding relationships and influence with TRS trustees, including

Stuart Levine, as wellas TRS staff members.

j. Capri Capital was a real estate asset management company

based in Chicago, Illinois, that invested funds on behalf of TRS. Thomas

Rosenberg was aprincipal and part owner of Capri Capital.
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Pwties pnrt Powers «ft^ nff,r,e otRnv„nnr

k. The Office of the Governor ofthe State ofIllinois fGovernor's
Office") was entrusted with extensive duties including, among other things,
^porting, approving and vetoing legislation; appointing directors and key
administrators of state departments, agencies, and boards; issuing executive
orders; authorizing expenditures of certain grant funds; annually proposing a
budget and overseeing the expenditure of state funds; and otherwise setting
Priorities and direction for the State of Illinois. As chief executive of the State
of Illinois, the Governor was responsible for administration of all areas of the
executive branch of state government not under the authority of the other
constitutionallyelected officials. The Office of the Governor employed staff
members to assist the Governor in performing his duties.

1. Shortly after his election on November 4, 2008, as President
of the United States, Barack Obama resigned his position as United States
Senator from Illinois, creatingavacancy in that office. As Governor of Illinois,
defendantRODBLAGOJEVICHhadtheduty under Illinoislaw.lOILCS 5/26-8,
to appoint a replacement, who would serve the approximately two years
remaining in Barack Obama's term as United States Senator.
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Illinois T.flwo

m. In or about September 2008, the Illinois General Assembly
enactedPub,icAct95.971,effectiveJanuaiyl|2009|that>amongotherthin8s
Prohibits business entities with aggregate state contracts or pending state
contract bids ofmore than $50,000 from making campaign contributions to any
political committee established to promote the candidacy of, among others a
candidate for the office ofGovernor. This law also prohibits such contributions
by affiliated entities and affiliated persons ofsuch business entities.

THEENTE^pp,^

2- At times material to this indictment, defendant ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, Christopher Kelly, Antoin Rezko, Alonzo Monk, the Office of
the Governor ofIllinois, and Friends ofBlagojevich were associated in fa* and
constituted an "enterprise" as that term is defined in Title !8, United States
Code, Section 1961(4), which enterprise was engaged in, and the activities of
which affected, interstate commerce. This enterprise is referred to for purposes
of this count as the "Blagojevich Enterprise." The Blagoievich Enterprise
constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned asacontinuing
unit for acommon purpose ofachieving the objectives of the enterprise.,
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PURPOSE OF THE ENTERPRISE

3. The primary purpose of the Blagojevich Enterprise was to exercise

and preserve power over the government of the State of Illinois for the financial

benefitofdefendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, both directly and through Friends

of Blagojevich, and for the financial benefit of his family members and

associates.

THE RACKETEERING VIOLATION

4. From in or about 2002 to on or about December 9, 2008, in the

Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, together with Christopher Kelly, Alonzo Monk, William F.

Cellini, Sr., John Harris, Robert Blagojevich, Antoin Rezko, Stuart Levine, and

othersknown and unknown, beingpersonsemployed by and associated with an

enterprise, namely the Blagojevich Enterprise, whichenterprise engaged in, and

the activities ofwhichaffected, interstate commerce, unlawfully and knowingly

conducted and participated, directlyand indirectly, in the conduct ofthe affairs

ofthe Blagojevich Enterprise through a pattern ofracketeering activity, as that

term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), that is,

through the commission of the racketeering acts set forth in Paragraph 45

below:
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MEANS AND METHODS OF THE ENTFT^pptqi?

5. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Kelly, Monk, Cellini, Harris,
Robert Blagojevich, Rezko, Levine, and others, used and agreed to use the
powers of the Office of the Governor, and of certain state boards and
commissions subject to influence by the Office ofthe Governor, to take and cause

governmental actions, including: appointments to boards and commissions; the
awarding of state business, grants, and investment fund allocations; the
enactment of legislation and executive orders; and the appointment ofaUnited

States Senator; in exchange for financial benefits for themselves and others,
including campaign contributions for ROD BLAGOJEVICH, money for
themselves, and employment for ROD BLAGOJEVICH and his wife.

Sharing Financial Benefits from St»t» Ant;^T

6. In aseries ofconversations that began in 2002 and continued after

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH was elected Governor in November 2002, ROD
BLAGOJEVICH and Monk, along with Kelly and Rezko, agreed that they would
use ROD BLAGOJEVIOTs position as Governor and Monk's position as Chief
of Staff for financial gain, which would be divided among them, with the
understanding that the money would be distributed after ROD BLAGOJEVICH
left public office. ROD BLAGOJEVICH and others later implemented this
agreement, as further described below.
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The Pension Obliffltinn Bond T>^\

7. In or about 2003, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, Kelly, and
Rszko, agreed to direct lucrative state business relating to the refinancing of
billions of dollars in State of Illinois Pension Obligation Bonds to acompany
whose lobbyist agreed to provide hundreds of thousands of dollars to Rezko out
of the fee the lobbyist would collect, and Rezko in turn agreed to split the money
with ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Kelly.

Maintaining Control Over TRS

8. In or about the spring of 2003, Kelly, Rezko, Cellini, and Levine
agreed that Kelly and Rezko would use their influence with the Blagojevich
administration to assist Cellini and Levine in maintaining influence over the
activities of TRS, and in return, Cellini and Levine would use their influence
with TRS to cause TRS to invest in funds, and to use the services of law firms,
selected by Kelly and Rezko, at times in exchange for substantial contributions
to Friends ofBlagojevich.

The Solicitation nf Ali A*n

9. In or about late 2002, Ali Ata, an Illinois businessman who was
solicited by Rezko to make political contributions to defendant ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, broughta$25,000 check to Rezko's offices, where Ata met with

RODBLAGOJEVICH.Duringthatmeeting,RODBLAGOJEVICHasked Rezko
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ifRezko had talked to Ata about positions in the administration, and Rezko said
that he had. In or about July 2003, after discussions with Rezko about possible
state appointments, Ata gave Rezko another $25,000 check payable to ROD
BLAGOJEVICH's campaign. Shortly after this, Ata had aconversation with
ROD BLAGOJEVICH at a fundraising event, during which ROD
BLAGOJEVICH indicated that he was aware Ata recently had made another
substantial contribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICH's campaign, and told Ata that
he understood Ata would be joining his administration. Ata replied that he was
considering taking aposition, and ROD BLAGOJEVICH said that it had better

be ajob where Ata could make some money. ROD BLAGOJEVICH ultimately
appointed Ata as the executive director of the Illinois Finance Authority.

The Solicitation of Joseph Cari

10. On or about October 29, 2003, when Joseph Cari, a national

Democratic fundraiser, was traveling on a plane with defendant. ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, Kelly, and Levine to aBlagojevich fundraiser in New York
hosted by Cari, he spoke with ROD BLAGOJEVICH, who discussed Carl's
background as a national fundraiser and ROD BLAGOJEVICH's interest in
running for President. ROD BLAGOJEVICH said it was easier for governors to
solicit campaign contributions because of their ability to award contracts and

give legal work, consulting work, and investment banking work to campaign

10
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contributors, and that Kelly and Rezko were his point people in raising
campaign contributions. ROD BLAGOJEVICH also said there were state
contracts and other state work that could be given to contributors who helped
ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Rezko, and Kelly, and that Rezko and Kelly would follow
up with Cari in relation to the discussion that had just occurred.

11. During the October 29,2003, fundraiser, Levine told Cari that there
was aplan in place in the Blagojevich administration pursuant to which Rezko
and Kelly would pick consultants to do business with State of Illinois boards,
and, thereafter, the consultants would be asked to make campaign contributions.

12. SometimeafterOctober2003,Rezkotold Cari that Rezko had aclose
relationship with the Blagojevich administration, that Rezko had a role in
Picking consultants, law firms and other entities to get state business, and that
defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's Chief of Staff, Monk, helped implement
Rezko's choices for state work. Rezko also said that, in exchange for raising
money for ROD BLAGOJEVICH, the Blagojevich administration would be
helpful to Cari's business interests.

13. On or about March 5, 2004, Cari met with Kelly, who said he was
following up on Cari's conversations with defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH,
Rezko, and Levine. Kelly asked for Cari's help in raising money on anational •
level for ROD BLAGOJEVICH. When Cari said he was not inclined to help,

11
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Kelly pushed Cari to assist and said thathelping ROD BLAGOJEVICH would

be good for Cari's business interests and that Cari coujd have whatever Cari
wanted if he agreedto help.

Campaign Contributions Solicited for TRS Investments

14. In or about March 2004, Lobbyist Amet with Christopher Kelly to

ask how two clients ofLobbyist Acould become eligible to manage investments

for TRS. Kelly informed Lobbyist A that TRS was Rezko's area, and

subsequently told Lobbyist Athat he had spoken with Rezko, and that it would

require a $50,000 campaign contribution to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH for

a firm to get on TRS's list of recommended fund managers.

The Attempt^ F.vtortion of Canri Capital

15. In or about April 2004, Rezko, Kelly, and Levine agreed that they

would use their influence and Levine's position at TRS to prevent Capri Capital

from receivingapotential $220 million allocation from TRS unless Capri Capital,

or one of its principals, Thomas Rosenberg, agreed to make apayment, such as

by arranging to raise asignificant amount ofmoney in campaign contributions

forthebenefitof defendantROD BLAGOJEVICH. At Levine's direction, Cellini

assisted the plan by indicating to Rosenberg that Capri Capital had not yet

received its $220 million allocation from TRS because of its failure to make

political donations to ROD BLAGOJEVICH.

12
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16. On or about May 11,2004, after Rosenberg threatened to expose the

extortion attempt, Rezko, Kelly, Levine, and Cellini agreed that in light'of
Rosenberg's threat it was too risky to continue demanding money from
Rosenberg or to block the $220 million allocation to Capri Capital. Rezko
subsequently told Levine that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH had been told
about the attempt to extort Rosenberg, and that ROD BLAGOJEVICH had

agreed that Capri Capital should receive the.$220 million allocation because of

Rosenberg's threat, but felt that Rosenberg should receive nothing further from
the State of Illinois.

17. After the discussion involving Kelly, Rezko, Levine, and Cellini on

or about May 11, 2004, Cellini and Levine took steps to conceal the extortion

plan, including by using their influence and Levine's position at TRS to ensure
that Capri Capital received its $220 million allocation.

Benefit CTjyen to ROD BLAao.TF.yTCH and A.onro Maml-

18. To ensure that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH and Monk would

continue to give Rezko substantial influence regarding matters such as

appointments to boards and commissions, the selection of candidates for state

employment, and the awarding ofstate contracts, grants, and investment fund

allocations, Rezko gave certain benefits to ROD BLAGOJEVICH and Monk,
including the following:

13



Case: l:08-cr-00888 Document #: 231 Filed: 02/04/10 Page 14 of112 PagelD#:2011

a. In or about late August 2003, Rezko directed to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH's wife a payment of$14,369, purportedly in connection with a

real estate transaction involvingproperty at 850 North OgdenAvenue, Chicago,

Illinois, for which transaction ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife had not performed

any services.

b. From inoraboutOctober 2003 toinoraboutMay2004, Rezko,

throughhis real estate development company, provided ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

wife withpayments of$12,000 a month, purportedly for real estate brokerage

services.

c. In or about January 2004, while Rezko's real estate

development company waspayingROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife $12,000 a month,

Rezko directed toROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife a paymentof$40,000, purportedly

forbrokerageservicesin connection with the sale ofproperty at 1101 WestLake

Street, Chicago, Illinois, eventhoughthe saleofthe propertyhad beenarranged

without the assistance of ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife.

d. From in or about the spring of 2004 until in or about 2006,

Rezko provided to Monk a numberof$10,000 cash gifts topay forvariousitems,

such as a car and home improvements, which cash gifts totaled approximately

$70,000 to $90,000.

14
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The Search for Employment for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's Wife

19. After the real estate business of defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

wife became the subject of critical.media coverage, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

directed Harris to try to find a paid state board appointment or positionfor her.

During several conversations in or about early 2008, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

informed Harris that ROD BLAGOJEVICH wantedhis wife put onthe Pollution

Control Board, which pays salaries to its board members. When Harris told

ROD BLAGOJEVICH that his wife was not qualified for the position, ROD

BLAGOJEVICH told Harris to find other employment for his wife.

20. In or about the spring of 2008, around the time that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH's wife passed a licensing examination that allowed her to sell

financial securities, ROD BLAGOJEVICH asked Harris and others to set up

informational or networking meetings for his wife with financial institutions

that had business with the State ofIllinoisin hopesthat those businesses would

assist in getting ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife a job. Harris subsequently

arranged meetings between ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife and officials at two

financial institutions that had business with the State of Illinois. When ROD

BLAGOJEVICH concluded that officials at these institutions were unhelpful in

finding ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife a job,ROD BLAGOJEVICH told Harris that

he did not want the institutions receiving further business from the State of

15
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Illinois.

Solicitation of United States Congressman A

21. In orabout2006, afterUnited StatesCongressmanAinquired about

the status of a $2 million grant for the benefit of a publicly-supported school,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed Harris not to release the grant until

further direction from ROD BLAGOJEVICH, even though ROD BLAGOJEVICH

previously had agreed to support the grant and funding for the grant had been

included in the state's budget.

22. In response to inquiries by a high-ranking state official as to

whether the grant money could be released, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

informed the official that ROD BLAGOJEVICH wanted it communicated to

United States Congressman A that United States Congressman A's brother

needed to have a fundraiser for ROD BLAGOJEVICH.

23. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH told Lobbyist A that ROD

BLAGOJEVICH was giving a $2 million grant to a school in United States

Congressman A's district and instructed Lobbyist Ato approach United States

Congressman A for a fundraiser.

24. After defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH learned from Harris that the

school had started toincur expenses that were to be paid with the grant funds,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH initially resisted therelease ofthe grantmoney, andthen
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ultimately agreed to the release of certain of the grant funds tocover incurred

expenses, butonly ona delayed basis, even though nofundraiser hadbeen held.

Solicitation of Children's Memorial Hospital

25. On or about October 8, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

advised Lobbyist Athat he intended to take official action that would provide

additional state money to Children's Memorial Hospital, and that ROD

BLAGOJEVICH wanted to get $50,000 incampaign contributions from the Chief

Executive Officer of Children's Memorial Hospital ("the Children's CEO").

26. On or about October 17, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

called the Children's CEO to tell him of his intent to increase the Illinois

Medicaid reimbursement rate for speciality-care pediatric physicians. Shortly

before this, ROD BLAGOJEVICH had directed Deputy Governor Ato initiate

such an increase, which Illinois providers of pediatric healthcare, including

Children's Memorial Hospital, had actively supported for years.

27. OnoraboutOctober 22,2008, at defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

direction, Robert Blagojevich spoke with the Children's CEO and asked him to

arrange to raise $25,000 for ROD BLAGOJEVICH prior to January 1, 2009.

28. On or about November 12, 2008, after the Children's CEO had not

returned additional phone calls from Robert Blagojevich, and no political

contributions from the Children's CEO or other persons associated with

17
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Children's Memorial Hospital had been received, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH spoke to Deputy GovernorA about the increase in the Medicaid

reimbursement rates for specialty-care pediatric physicians, asking whether "we

could pull it back if we needed to...." As a result of this conversation, Deputy

Governor A instructed the Department of Healthcare Services to stop its work

on increasing the reimbursement for specialty-care pediatric physicians.

Solicitation of Racetrack Executive

29. On or about November 13, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

told Robert Blagojevich that he wanted campaign contributions to be made by

the end ofthe year by Racetrack Executive, who,as RODBLAGOJEVICH knew,

managed horse racing tracks that would financially benefit from a bill pending

in the Illinois legislature that would require certain Illinois casinos to give

money to a fund that would be used to help the Illinois horse racing industry

(the "Racing Bill "). At that time, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, Monk had

been trying to arrange a contribution from Racetrack Executive, and ROD

BLAGOJEVICH had set a goal of raising $100,000 in contributions from and

through Racetrack Executive.

30. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH had further conversations with

Monk about the Racing Bill after it was passed by the Illinois legislature on or

about November 20, 2008. In those conversations, ROD BLAGOJEVICH and
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Monk discussed whether and when ROD BLAGOJEVICH would signthe Racing

Bill, and whether and when Racetrack Executive would arrange for campaign

contributions to ROD BLAGOJEVICH. On or about December 3, 2008, ROD

BLAGOJEVICH indicated to Monk that he was concerned that Racetrack

Executive would not make acontribution by the end ofthe year if he signed the

Racing Bill before the contribution was made. As a result, Monk and ROD

BLAGOJEVICH agreed that Monk would speak with Racetrack Executive to

ensure that Racetrack Executive would make a contribution by the end of the
year.

31. After meeting with defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH on or about

December 3, 2008, Monk visited Racetrack Executive. During that visit, Monk

communicated to Racetrack Executive thatROD BLAGOJEVICH was concerned

that Racetrack Executive would not make a contribution to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH ifthe Racing Bill was signed before the contribution was made.

32. After meeting with Racetrack Executive on or about December 3,

2008, Monk reported to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH that Monk had said to

Racetrack Executive, "look, there is a concern that there is going to be some

skittishness if your bill gets signed because of the timeliness of the

commitment," and made it clear to Racetrack Executive that the contribution

has "got to be in now." ROD BLAGOJEVICH responded, "good," and "good job."
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33. On or about December 4, 2008, Monk asked defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH to call Racetrack Executive and to suggest that ROD

BLAGOJEVICH would sign theRacing Bill, because thiswould be better "from

a pressure point of view." ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed to call Racetrack

Executive.

Solicitation of Highway Contractor

34. On orabout September 18, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

Monk, and Robert Blagojevich met with Construction Executive, who was both

anexecutive with a company thatmanufactured and distributed road building

materials and a representative ofa trade group involved with the construction

of roads. In that meeting, ROD BLAGOJEVICH said that he was planning on

announcing a $1.5 billion road buildingprogram that would be administered

through the Illinois Toll Highway Authority (the "Tollway") and that he might

authorize an additional $6 billion road building program later on. Shortly

thereafter in the conversation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH asked for Construction

Executive's help in raising contributions for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's campaign

by the end of the year. After Construction Executive left the meeting, ROD

BLAGOJEVICH instructed Monk to try to get Construction Executive to raise

$500,000 in contributions. As ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, Monk subsequently

had a series ofconversations with Construction Executive about the possibility
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of Construction Executive arranging for campaign contributions to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH.

35. On or about October 6, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH told

Lobbyist A that he would make an announcement concerning a $1.8 billion

project involving the Tollway and that Monk would approach Construction

Executive to ask that he raise substantial campaign contributions. ROD

BLAGOJEVICH further said that he could have announced a largeramount of

money for road projects, but wanted to see how Construction Executive

performed in raising contributions, and he added words to the effect of"Ifthey

don't perform, fuck 'em."

36. On or about October 22, 2008, approximately one week after

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH publicly announced a portionofa $1.8 billion

program to upgrade interchanges on the tollway system, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

called Construction Executive, spoke with him aboutthe $1.8 billion program,

and asked how he was coming with fundraising.

Efforts to Obtain Personal Advantage in Exchange
For State Financial Support for the Tribune Company

37. Beginning in or about October 2008, and continuing until on or

aboutDecember9,2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, onmultiple occasions,

instructed Harris to communicate to individuals at the Tribune Company that

ROD BLAGOJEVICH would withhold proposed state financial support that
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would benefit the Tribune Company, publisher of the Chicago Tribune

newspaper, unless the Tribune Company fired editorial board members who had

been critical of ROD BLAGOJEVICH.

Efforts to Obtain Personal Financial Benefits for ROD BLAGOJEVICH
in Return for his Appointment of a United States Senator

38. Beginning in or about October 2008, and continuing until on or

about December 9, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, with the assistance

ofHarris and RobertBlagojevich, and others, soughtto obtain financialbenefits

forhimselfand his wife, in return for the exercise ofhis duty under Illinois law

to appoint a United States Senator to fill the vacancy created by the election of

Barack Obama as President of the United States.

39. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH engaged in numerous

conversations with others, at times including Harris and. Robert Blagojevich,

certain high-ranking employees of the Office of the Governor, and certain

political consultants, regarding the advantages and disadvantages ofselecting

various candidates for the Senate vacancy and as a part ofthose considerations,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH andothers devised andset inmotion plansby which ROD

BLAGOJEVICH could use his power to appoint a United States Senator to

obtain financial benefits for himself and his wife. At times ROD

BLAGOJEVICH directed others, including state employees, to assist in these

endeavors, including by performing research and conveying messages to third
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parties.

40. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH and others devised and discussed

means of using ROD BLAGOJEVICH's power to appoint a United States

Senator in exchange for financial benefits for himself and his wife, which

benefits would take the following forms, among others:

a. Presidential appointment of ROD BLAGOJEVICH to high-

ranking positions in the federal government, including Secretary ofHealth and

Human Services or an ambassadorship;

b. A highly paid leadership position with a private foundation

dependent on federal aid, which ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed could be

influenced by the President-elect to name ROD BLAGOJEVICH to such a

position;

c. A highly paid leadership position with an organization known

as "Change to Win," consisting of seven affiliated labor unions, which, in a

transaction suggested by Harris, could appoint ROD BLAGOJEVICH as its

chairman with the expectation that the President-elect would assist Change to

Win with its national legislative agenda;

d. Employment for the wife ofROD BLAGOJEVICH with a union

organization or lobbying firm, or on corporate boards of directors;

e. A highly paid leadership position with a newly-created not-for-
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profit corporation that ROD BLAGOJEVICHbelievedcould be funded with large

contributions by persons associated with the President-elect; and

f. Substantial campaign fundraising assistance from individuals

seeking theUnited States Senate seatand theirbackers, including from Senate

Candidate A, whose associate ROD BLAGOJEVICH understood to have offered

$1.5 million in campaign contributions in return for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

appointment of Senate Candidate A.

41. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH discussed with others means by

which he could influence the President-elect to assist ROD BLAGOJEVICH in

obtaining personal benefits for himself and his wife, including by appointing as

United States Senator a candidate whom ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed to be

favored by the President-elect. At times, ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted to

further this goal by conveying messages, directly and with the assistance of

others, to individuals whom he believed to be in communication with the

President-elect.

42. On or about December 4, 2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

instructed Robert Blagojevich tocontact a representative ofSenate Candidate

A, and advise the representative that if Senate Candidate A was going to be

chosen to fill the Senate seat, some ofthe promised fundraising had to occur

before theappointment. ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed Robert Blagojevich to
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communicate the urgency of the message, and to do it in person, rather than

over the phone. Robert Blagojevich agreed to do so, and thereafter arranged a

meeting with an associate of Senate Candidate A.

43. On or about December 5, 2008, following the publication that day of

a newspaper article reporting that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH had been

surreptitiously recorded in connection with an ongoing federal investigation,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed Robert Blagojevich to cancel his meeting with

the associate of Senate Candidate A, and Robert Blagojevich agreed to do so.

Concealment

44. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, and others, misrepresented,

concealed, and hid, and caused to be misrepresented, concealed, and hidden, the

purposes of and the acts done in furtherance of the Blagojevich Enterprise.

THE PATTERN OF RACKETEERING ACTIVITY

45. The pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18, United

States Code, Sections 1961(1) and 1961(5), consisted of the following acts:
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Racketeering A^tf1
(The Pension Obligation Bond Deal)

(Paragraph 7 Above>

Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH committed the following acts, any one of

which alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act #1.

a. In or about 2003, in Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois,

Eastern Division, andelsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH

defendant herein, committed an act involving bribery, that is, conspired to

commitbribery withAlonzo Monk, Christopher Kelly, and Antoin Rezko, in that

ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed to accept property, namely money, which he was

not authorized by law to accept, knowing that the property was promised and

tendered with the intent to cause ROD BLAGOJEVICH to influence the

performance of acts related to his employment as Governor of the State of

Illinois, namely, the awarding of lucrative state business relating to the

refinancing ofbillions ofdollars in State ofIllinois Pension Obligation Bonds, in

violation of720ILCS 5/33-l(d) and 720ILCS 5/8-2.

b. In or about 2003, in Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois,
Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH

defendant herein, committed an act involving bribery, that is, ROD
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BLAGOJEVICH agreed to accept property, namely money, which he was not

authorized by law to accept, knowing that the property was promised and

tendered with the intent to cause ROD BLAGOJEVICH to influence the

performance of acts related to his employment as Governor of the State of

Illinois, namely, the awarding of lucrative state business relating to the

refinancing ofbillions ofdollars in State ofIllinois PensionObligation Bonds, in

violation of 720 ILCS 5/33-l(d).
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Racketeering Act #2
(Solicitation of United States Congressman A

(Paragraphs 21-24 Above)

Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH committed the followingacts, any oneof

which alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act #2.

a. Beginning in or about 2005 and continuing through in or about 2006,

in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion would

obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to obtain

property, in the form of political contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from United States Congressman A and United States

Congressman A's brother, with the consent ofUnited States CongressmanAand

United States Congressman A's brother, under colorofofficialright, in violation

ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.

b. Beginning in or about 2005and continuingthrough in or about 2006,

in Chicago, in the Northern District ofIllinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, committed an act involving bribery, that is, attempted to

commit bribery, in that ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted to solicit and agreed

to accept property and personal advantage, namely political contributions,
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pursuant to an understanding that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH would

improperly influence the performance of an act related to his employment and

function as Governor of the State of Illinois, namely, the provision of a $2 million

grant for the benefit ofa publicly-supported school, in violation of 720 ILCS 6/33-

1(e) and 720 ILCS 5/8-4.
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Racketeering Act #3
(Solicitation of Children's Memorial Hospital)

(Paragraphs 25-28 Above)

Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH committed the following acts, any one of

which alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act #3.

a. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, and others did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion

would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to

obtain property, in the form of political contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from the Chief Executive Officer of Children's Memorial

Hospital, and Children's Memorial Hospital, with the consent of the Chief

Executive Officer and Children's Memorial Hospital under colorofofficialright,

and inducedbythe wrongful useofactual and threatened fear ofeconomic harm,

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.

b. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH
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defendant herein, committed an act involving bribery, that is, attempted to

commit bribery, in that ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted to solicit and agreed

to accept property and personal advantage, namely political contributions,

pursuant to an understanding that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would improperly

influence the performance of an act related to his employment and function as

Governor of the State of Illinois, namely, increasing reimbursement rates for

specialty-care pediatric physicians, in violation of 720 ILCS 5/33-l(e) and 720

ILCS 5/8-4.

c. Paragraphs 2 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

On or about October 17, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecutingthe above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone call between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois, and the Children's CEO in Florida, in

which ROD BLAGOJEVICH told the Children's CEO that ROD BLAGOJEVICH

had approvedan increase in the reimbursement rate forspecialty-carepediatric

physicians, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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Racketeering Act #4
(Solicitation of Racetrack Executive)

(Paragraphs 29-33 Above)

Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH committed the followingacts, any oneof

which alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act #4.

a. Beginningon or about December 3,2008, and continuingthrough on

or about December 9,2008, in the Northern District ofIllinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, did conspire with Alonzo Monk and others to commit

extortion, which extortion would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that

they agreed to obtain property, in the form of political contributions for the

benefit of ROD BLAGOJEVICH from Racetrack Executive and two horse racing

tracks with which Racetrack Executive was affiliated, with the consent of

Racetrack Executive and the horse racing tracks under color ofofficial right, and

induced by the wrongful use of actual and threatened fear of economic harm, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.

b. Beginning on or about December 3,2008, and continuing through on

or about December 9,2008, in the Northern District ofIllinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH
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defendant herein, along with Alonzo Monk, committed an act involving bribery,

that is, conspired to commit bribery, in that ROD BLAGOJEVICH, with the

assistance of Monk, solicited and agreed to accept property and personal

advantage, namely political contributions, pursuant to anunderstanding that

ROD BLAGOJEVICH would improperly influence the performance ofan act

related to his employment and function as Governor of the State of Illinois,

namely, the signing ofa bill that had passed the Illinois legislature and that

would financially help theIllinois horse racingindustry, inviolation of720 ILCS

5/33-1(e) and 720 ILCS 5/8-2.

c. Paragraphs 2 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

Onor about December 4, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

ofIllinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted bymeans ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone call between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois, and Alonzo Monk in Miami, Florida, in

which ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed with Monk that, in order to obtain the

campaign contribution sought from Racetrack Executive in exchange for a
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prompt signing of the Racing Bill, it would be better "from a pressure pointof

view" for ROD BLAGOJEVICH himself to call Racetrack Executive to discuss

the timing ofsigningthe Racing Bill, in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code,

Sections 1343 and 1346.
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Racketeering Act #5

(Solicitation of Highway Contractor)

(Paragraphs 34-36 Above)

Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH committed the following acts, any one of

which alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act #5.

a. Beginning in or about September 2008 and continuing through

December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and

elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, and others did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion

would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to

obtain property, in the form of political contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from Construction Executive (who was both an executive with

a company that supplied materials for road construction, and a representative

of a trade group involved with the construction ofroads), and from the company

that employed Construction Executive, with the consent of Construction

Executive and his employer under color of official right, and induced by the

wrongful use of actual and threatened fear of economic harm, in violation ofTitle

18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.

b. Beginning in or about September 2008 and continuing through

December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and
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elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH

defendant herein, along with others, committed an act involvingbribery, that is,

attempted to commit bribery, in that ROD BLAGOJEVICH, solicited and agreed

to accept property and personal advantage, namely political contributions,

pursuant to an understanding that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would improperly

influence the performance of an act related to his employment and function as

Governor of the State of Illinois, namely, increasing funding for road building

programs, in violation of 720 ILCS 5/33-1(e) and 720 ILCS 5/8-4.
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/Fff. „. . ~, A. ^ Racketeer.nff A,* #ft
(Efforts to Obtain Personal Financial Benefits for Rod Blagoievich

JL£aragraphs 38-43 Afroy*)

DefendantRODBLAGOJEVICHcommittedthefollowingacts,anyoneof
which alone constitutes the commission ofRacketeering Act #6.

a- Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or
about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,
and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendantherein, did conspire withRobert Blagojevich, John Harris, and other,
to commit extortion in relation to the appointment ofaUnited States Senator,
which extortion would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in thatthey agreed
to obtain property, for the benefit of EOD BLAGOJEVICH, from various
individuals, with the consent ofthose individuals under color ofofficial right, in
violation ofTitle 18, United States Code; Sections 1961(a) and 2. ..

b- Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or
about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,
and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, and Robert Blagojevich, and others did attempt to commit
extortion in relation to the appointment of aUnited States Senator, which
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extortion would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant
attempted to obtain property, for the benefit of ROD BLAGOJEVICH, from
various individuals, with the consent ofthose individuals under color ofofficial
right, in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.

c Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or
about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,
and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH

defendant herein, along with Robert Blagojevich, John Harris, and others,
committed an act involvingbribery, that is, conspired to commit bribery, in that
ROD BLAGOJEVICH, with the assistance of others, solicited and agreed to
accept property and personal advantage, pursuant to an understanding that
ROD BLAGOJEVICH would improperly influence the performance of an act
related to his employment and function as Governor of the State of Illinois,
namely, the appointment of aUnited States Senator, in violation of 720 ILCS
5/33-1(e) and 720 ILCS 5/8-2.

d. - 1. Paragraphs 2through 42 of Count Three are realleged and
incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

On or about the following dates, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, for the
purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did knowingly cause to be
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transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication in interstate commerce
signals and sounds, namely phone calls, as further described below and in the
corresponding indictment count, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1343 and 1346:

Racketeering
Act

6(d)

6(e)

6(0

6(g)

Date

11/1/2008 Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH inIllinois andRobert
Blagojevich in Nashville, Tennessee, as
such conversationrelatestotheSenate
seat, and as more fully described in
Count 4 of this indictment

11/7/2008

11/10/2008

11/12/2008

Description

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH and John Harris, in
Chicago, Illinois, and Advisor A, in
Washington, D.C., as more fully
described in Count 5ofthis indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, John Harris and
others, in Chicago, Illinois, andvarious
advisors inWashington, D.C., and New
York City, as more fully described in
Count 6 of this indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, in Chicago, Illinois,
and Advisor A in Washington, D.C.
(Sessions 533, 535, and 537), as more
fully described in Count 7 of this
indictment
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6(h) 11/12/2008

6(i) 11/12/2008

60 11/13/2008

6(k) 11/13/2008

6(1) 12/4/2008

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois,
and a labor union official in
Washington, D.C. (Session 541), as
more fully described in Count 8 of this
indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois,
and a labor union official in
Washington, D.C. (Session 546), as
more fully described in Count 9 of this
indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois,
and Advisor B in Michigan (Session
624), as more fully described in Count
10 of this indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois,
and Advisor B in Michigan (Session
627), as more fully described in Count
11 of this indictment

Phone call between ROD
BLAGOJEVICH and Deputy Governor
A in Chicago, Illinois, and Advisor A in
Washington, D.C, as more fully
described in Count 13 of this
indictment

All inviolation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1962(c).
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COUNT TWO

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:
1. Paragraphs 1, 2, and 3of Count One, and Paragraph 2of Count

Three, are hereby realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.
The Racketeering Consnirar-y

2. From in or about 2002 to on or about December 9, 2008, in the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, together with Christopher Kelly, Alonzo Monk, William F.
Cellini, Sr., John Harris, Robert Blagojevich, Antoin Rezko, and Stuart Levine,
being persons employed by and associated with an enterprise, namely the
Blagojevich Enterprise, which enterprise engaged in, and the activities ofwhich
affected, interstate commerce, did conspire and agree, with each other and
others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to conduct and participate,
directly and indirectly, in the conduct ofthe affairs ofthe Blagojevich Enterprise
through apattern of racketeering activity, as that term is defined in Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), consisting of:

a. multiple acts indictable under the following provisions of
federal law:

i. Title 18, UnitedStates Code, Section 1951(a) (extortion,
attempted extortion, and conspiracy to commit
extortion);
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ii. Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343, and
1346 (mail fraud and wire fraud); and

b. multiple acts involving bribery, including conspiracy and
attempt, chargeable under the following provisions of Illinois
law:

720 ILCS 5/33-l(d) and (e) (bribery);

720 ILCS 5/8-2, and 5/8-4 (conspiracy and attempt)

3. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed that a conspirator would

commit at least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of

the enterprise.

Means and Method of the Conspiracy

4. It was part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

alongwith Kelly, Monk, Cellini, RobertBlagojevich, Harris, Rezko, and Levine,

and others, used and agreed to use the powers ofthe Office ofthe Governor and

ofcertain state boards and commissions subject to the influenceof the Office of

the Governor, totake andcause governmental actions, including: appointments

to boards and commissions; the awarding of state business, grants, and

investmentfund allocations; the enactment oflegislation and executive orders;

and the appointment of a United States Senator; in exchange for financial

benefits for themselves and others, including campaign contributions forROD

BLAGOJEVICH, money for themselves, and employment for ROD
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BLAGOJEVICH and his wife.

5. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH permitted Kelly and Rezko to exercise substantial influence

over certain activities of the Office of the Governor, as well as state boards and

commissions with members appointed by the Governor, with the knowledge that

Kelly and Rezko would use this influence to enrich themselves and their

associates. In return, Kelly and Rezko provided benefits to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH by (a) generating millions of dollars in contributions to Friends

of Blagojevich, and (b) providing financial benefits directly to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and his family members.

6. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and other members of the conspiracy committed various acts

in furtherance of the conspiracy, as more fully described, and incorporated

herein, at Paragraphs 6 through 43 of Count One.

7. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, and other members of the conspiracy, misrepresented,

concealed, and hid, and caused to be misrepresented, concealed, and hidden, the

purposes of and the acts done in furtherance of the conspiracy;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).
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COUNT THREE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraph 1 of Count One is hereby realleged and incorporated as

if fully set forth herein.

2. At times material to this Second Superseding Indictment:

a. Defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Harris, while

serving, as officers and employees of the State of Illinois, and Levine, while

serving as a Trustee of TRS and a member of the Planning Board, were bound

by the following laws, duties, policies, and procedures:

i. As Governor, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH was a

constitutional officer and as such, at the outset of each term as Governor, was

required to take an oath ofoffice to support the Constitution of the United States

and the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and to faithfully discharge the

duties of the office of Governor to the best of his ability.

ii. Pursuant to Article VIII, Section 1(a) ofthe Constitution

of the State of Illinois, public funds, property and credit shall be used only for

public purposes.

iii. As officers and employees of the State of Illinois,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Harris owed a duty of honest

services and a duty of loyalty to the people of the State of Illinois in the
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performance of their public duties.

iv. As a Trustee of TRS, Levine owed a fiduciary duty, a

duty ofhonest services, and a duty ofloyalty to the beneficiaries ofTRS and was

required to act solely for their benefit. As a member of the Health Facilities

Planning Board, Levine owed a duty ofhonest services and a duty of loyalty to

the people of the State of Illinois in the performance of his duties on the Health

Facilities Planning Board.

v. Pursuant to the criminal laws ofthe State ofIllinois (720

ILCS 5/33-3(c) and(d)), defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Harris, and

Levine, each was prohibited from committing the following acts in his official

capacity: (1) performing an act in excess of his lawful authority, with intent to

obtain a personal advantage for himselfor others; and (2) soliciting or knowingly

accepting, for the performance of any act, a fee or reward which he knows is not

authorized by law.

vi. Pursuant to the criminal laws ofthe State ofIllinois (720

ILCS 5/33-l(d) and (e)), defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Levine

each was prohibited from: (1) receiving, retaining, or agreeing to accept any

property or personal advantage which he was not authorized by law to accept,

knowing that such property or personal advantage was promised or tendered

with intent to cause him to influence the performance of any act related to the
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employment or function of his public office; and (2) soliciting, receiving,

retaining, or agreeing to accept any property or personal advantage pursuant to

an understandingthat he would improperly influence or attempt to influence the

performance ofany act related to the employment of any public officer or public

employee.

vii. Pursuant to the criminal laws ofthe State of Illinois (50

ILCS 105/3), defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, and Levine each was

prohibited from being, in any manner, financially interested, either directly or

indirectly, in any contract or the performance ofany work in regard to which he

may have been called upon to act.

3. From in or about 2002 to on or about December 9, 2008, in the

Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, defendants ROD BLAGOJEVICH

and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, together with Alonzo Monk, John Harris,

Christopher Kelly, William F. Cellini, Sr., Antoin Rezko, Stuart Levine, and

others, acting with the intent to defraud and to deceive, devised andparticipated

in a scheme to deprive the people of the State of Illinois and the beneficiaries of

TRS of their intangible right to the honest services of ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

Harris, Monk, and Levine.
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Overview of the Scheme

4. It was part of the scheme to defraud that defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, together with Monk, Harris,

Kelly, Cellini, Rezko, Levine, and others, used and attempted to use the powers

of the Office of the Governor, and of certain state boards and commissions

subject to influence by the Office of the Governor, to take and cause official

actions, including: appointments to boards and commissions; the awarding of

state business, grants, and investment fund allocations; the enactment of

legislation and executive orders; and the appointment of a United States

Senator; in exchange for financial benefits for themselves and others, including

campaign contributions for ROD BLAGOJEVICH, money for themselves, and

employment for ROD BLAGOJEVICH and his wife, thereby materially

breaching the duty of loyalty owed by ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Harris, Monk, and

Levine.

Sharing Financial Benefits from State Actions

5. It was further part of the scheme that, in a series of conversations

that began in 2002 and continued after defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH was

elected Governor in November 2002, ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, Kelly, and

Rezko, agreed that they would use ROD BLAGOJEVICH's position as Governor

and Monk's position as Chief of Staff for financial gain, which would be divided
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among them, with the understanding that the money wouldbe distributed after

ROD BLAGOJEVICH left public office. The defendants and their co-schemers

later implemented this agreement, as further described below.

The Pension Obligation Bond Deal

6. It was further part of the scheme that in or about 2003, defendant

ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Monk, Kelly and Rezko, agreed to direct lucrative state

business relating to the refinancing of billions of dollars in State of Illinois

Pension Obligation Bonds to a company whose lobbyist agreed to provide

hundreds of thousands of dollars to Rezko out of the fee the lobbyist would

collect, and Rezko in turn agreed tosplit the money withROD BLAGOJEVICH,

Monk, and Kelly.

Maintaining Control Over TRS

7. It wasfurther part ofthe scheme that in oraboutthe springof2003,

Kelly, Rezko, Cellini, and Levine agreed that Kelly and Rezko woulduse their

influence with the Blagojevich administration to assist Cellini and Levine in

maintaining influence over the activities of TRS, and in return, Cellini and

Levine would use their influence with TRS to cause TRS to invest in funds, and

to use the services of law firms, selected by Kelly and Rezko, at times in

exchange for substantial contributions to Friends of Blagojevich.
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The Solicitation ofAli Ata

8. It was further part of the scheme that in or about late 2002, Ali Ata,

an Illinois businessman who was solicited by Rezko to make political

contributions to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, brought a $25,000 check to

Rezko'soffices, where Ata met with ROD BLAGOJEVICH. During that meeting,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH asked Rezko if Rezko had talked to Ata about positions

in the administration, and Rezko said that he had. In or about July 2003, after

discussions with Rezko about possible state appointments, Ata gave Rezko

another $25,000 check payable to ROD BLAGOJEVICH's campaign. Shortly

after this, Ata had a conversation with ROD BLAGOJEVICH at a fundraising

event, during which ROD BLAGOJEVICH indicated that he was aware Ata

recently had made another substantial contribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

campaign, and told Ata that he understood Ata would be joining his

administration. Ata replied that he was considering taking a position, and ROD

BLAGOJEVICH said that it had better be a job where Ata could make some

money. ROD BLAGOJEVICH ultimately appointed Ata as the executive,

director of the Illinois Finance Authority.

The Solicitation of Joseph Cari

9. It was further part of the scheme that on or about October 29,2003,

when Joseph Cari, a national Democratic fundraiser, was traveling on a plane
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with defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Kelly, and Levine to a Blagojevich

fundraiser in New York hosted by Cari, he spoke with ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

who discussed Cari's background as a national fundraiser and ROD

BLAGOJEVICH's interest in running for President. ROD BLAGOJEVICH said

it was easier for governors to solicit campaign contributions because of their

ability to award contracts and give legal work, consulting work, and investment

banking work to campaign contributors, and that Kelly and Rezko were his point

people in raising campaign contributions. ROD BLAGOJEVICH also said there

were state contracts and other state work that could be given to contributors

who helped ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Rezko, and Kelly, and that Rezko and Kelly

would follow up with Cari in relation to the discussion that had just occurred.

10. It was further part of the scheme that during the October 29, 2003,

fundraiser, Levine told Cari that there was a plan in place in the Blagojevich

administration pursuant to which Rezko and Kelly would pick consultants to do

business with State of Illinois boards, and, thereafter, the consultants would be

asked to make campaign contributions.

11. It was further part of the scheme that sometime after October 2003,

Rezko told Cari that Rezko had a close relationship with the Blagojevich

administration, that Rezko had a role in picking consultants, law firms and

other entities to get state business, and that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's
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Chief of Staff, Monk, helped implement Rezko's choices for state work. Rezko
also said that, in exchange for raising money for ROD BLAGOJEVICH, the
Blagojevich administration would be helpful to Cari's business interests.

12. It was further part of the scheme that on or about March 5, 2004,
Cari met with Kelly, who said he was following up on Cari's conversations with
defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Rezko, and Levine. KeUy asked for Cari's help
in raising money on anational level for ROD BLAGOJEVICH. When Cari said
he was not inclined to help, Kelly pushed Cari to assist and said that helping
ROD BLAGOJEVICH would be good for Cari's business interests and that Cari
could have whatever Cari wanted ifhe agreed to help.

.Campaign Contributions SnlM^A ft., TRS Tm^t^^

13. It was further part of the scheme that in or about March 2004,
Lobbyist Amet with Christopher Kelly to ask how two clients of Lobbyist A
could become eligible to manage investments for TRS. KeUy informed Lobbyist
Athat TBS was Rezko's area, and subsequently told Lobbyist Athat he had
spoken with Rezko, and that it would require a$50,000 campaign contribution
to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH for a firm to get on TRS's list of
recommended fund managers.
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The Attempted Extortion of Capri Capital

14. It was further part ofthe scheme that in or about April 2004, Rezko,

Kelly, and Levine agreed that they would use their influence and Levine's

positionat TRSto prevent Capri Capital from receivinga potential $220million

allocation from TRS unless Capri Capital or one of its principals, Thomas

Rosenberg, agreed to make a payment, such as by arranging to raise a

significant amount of money in campaign contributions for the benefit of

defendantROD BLAGOJEVICH. AtLevine's direction, CeUini assisted the plan

by indicating to Rosenberg that Capri Capital had not yet received its $220

million allocation from TRS because ofits failure to make political donations to

ROD BLAGOJEVICH.

15. It was further part of the scheme that on or about May 11, 2004,

after Rosenberg threatened to expose the extortion attempt, Rezko, Kelly,

Levine, and Cellini agreed that in light ofRosenberg's threat, it was too riskyto

continue demanding money from Rosenberg or to block the $220 million

allocation toCapriCapital. Rezko subsequently toldLevine that defendantROD

BLAGOJEVICH had been told about the attempt to extort Rosenberg, and that

ROD BLAGOJEVICH had agreed that Capri Capital should receive the $220

miUion allocationbecause ofRosenberg's threat, but felt that Rosenbergshould

receive nothing further from the State of IUinois.
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16. It wasfurtherpart ofthe scheme that after the discussion involving

Kelly, Rezko, Levine, and Cellini on or aboutMay 11, 2004, Cellini and Levine

took steps to conceal the extortion plan, including by using their influence and

Levine's position at TRS to ensurethat Capri Capital received its $220 million

allocation.

Benefits Given to ROD BLAGOJEVICH and Alonzo Monk

17. It wasfurtherpart ofthescheme that toensurethat defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and Monk would continue to give Rezko substantial influence

regarding matters such as appointments to boards and commissions, the

selection of candidates for state employment, and the awarding of state

contracts, grants, and investmentfundaUocations, Rezko gave certainbenefits

to ROD BLAGOJEVICH and Monk, including the foUowing:

a. In or about late August 2003,. Rezko directed to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH's wife a payment of$14,369, purportedly in connection with a

real estate transactioninvolvingpropertyat 850 NorthOgdenAvenue, Chicago,

IUinois, for which transaction ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife had not performed

any services.

b. From in or about October 2003 to in or about May 2004, Rezko,

through his real estate development company, provided ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

wife with payments of$12,000 a month, purportedly for real estate brokerage
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services.

c. In or about January 2004, while Rezko's real estate

development companywaspayingROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife $12,000 a month,

Rezko directed toROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife apayment of$40,000, purportedly

forbrokerage services in connection withthe saleofpropertyat 1101 WestLake

Street, Chicago, IUinois, even though thesaleoftheproperty hadbeen arranged

without the assistance of ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife.

d. From in or about the spring of 2004 untU in or about 2006,

Rezko providedto Monk a number of$10,000 cash giftsto pay forvarious items,

such as a car and home improvements, which cash gifts totaled approximately

$70,000 to $90,000.

The Search for Employment for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's Wife

18. It was further part of the scheme that after the real estate business

ofdefendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife became the subject ofcritical media

coverage, ROD BLAGOJEVICH directed Harris to try to find a paid state board

appointment or position forher. Duringseveralconversations in or about early

2008, ROD BLAGOJEVICH informed Harris that ROD BLAGOJEVICH wanted

his wife put on the PoUution Control Board, which pays salaries to its board

members. When Harris told ROD BLAGOJEVICH that his wife was not

qualified for the position, ROD BLAGOJEVICH told Harris to find other
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employment for his wife.

19. It was further part of the scheme that, in or about the spring of

2008, around the time that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife passed a

licensing examination that allowed her to sell financial securities, ROD

BLAGOJEVICH asked Harris and others to set up informational or networking

meetings for hiswife with financial institutions that hadbusiness with theState

of Illinois in hopes that those businesses would assist in getting ROD

BLAGOJEVICH's wife ajob. Harris subsequently arranged meetings between

ROD BLAGOJEVICH's wife and officials at two financial institutions that had

business with the State of IUinois. When ROD BLAGOJEVICH concluded that

officials at these institutions were unhelpful in finding ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

wife a job, ROD BLAGOJEVICH told Harris that he did not want the

institutions receiving further business from the State ofIUinois.

Solicitation of United States Congressman A

20. It was further part ofthe scheme that inor about 2006, after United

States Congressman Ainquired about the status of a $2 miUion grant for the

benefit of a pubHcly-supported school, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH

instructed Harris not to release the grant until further direction from ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, even though ROD BLAGOJEVICH previously had agreed to

support the grant and funding for the grant had been included in the state's
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budget.

21. It was further part of the scheme that, in response toinquiries by a
high-ranking state official as to whether the grant money could be released,
defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICHinformed the official that ROD BLAGOJEVICH

wanted it communicated to United States Congressman Athat United States

CongressmanA's brother needed to have afundraiser for ROD BLAGOJEVICH.

22. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH told Lobbyist Athat ROD BLAGOJEVICH was giving a$2
million grant to a school in United States Congressman A's district and

instructed Lobbyist A to approach United States Congressman A for a
fundraiser.

23. It was further part of the scheme that after defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH learned from Harris that the school had started to incur

expenses that were to be paid with the grant funds, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

initially resisted the release of the grant money, and then ultimately agreed to
the release ofcertain of the grant funds to cover incurred expenses, but only on
a delayed basis, even though no fundraiser had been held.

Solicitation ofChildress Memorial Hospital

24. Itwas further part of the scheme that on or about October 8, 2008,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH advised Lobbyist Athat he intended to take
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official action that would provide additional state money to Children's Memorial

Hospital, and that ROD BLAGOJEVICH wanted to get $50,000 in campaign
contributions from the Chief Executive Officer of Children's Memorial Hospital
("the ChUdren's CEO").

25. Itwas further part of the scheme that on or about October 17,2008,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH caUed the Children's CEO to tell him of his

intent to increase the IUinois Medicaid reimbursement rate for speciahty-care

pediatric physicians. Shortly before this, ROD BLAGOJEVICH had directed

Deputy Governor Ato initiate such an increase, which IUinois providers of

pediatric healthcare, including ChUdren's Memorial Hospital, had actively
supported for years.

26. Itwas further part ofthe scheme that on or about October 22, 2008,

at defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH's direction, defendant ROBERT

BLAGOJEVICH spoke with the Children's CEO and asked him to arrange to
raise $25,000 for ROD BLAGOJEVICH prior to January 1, 2009.

27. It was further part of the scheme that on or about November 12,

2008, after the ChUdren's CEO had not returned additional phone calls from

defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, and no political contributions from the

Children's CEO or other persons associated with Children's Memorial Hospital

had been received, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH spoke to Deputy Governor
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Aabout the increase in the Medicaid reimbursement rates for specialty-care

pediatric physicians, asking whether "we could pull it backif we needed to...."

As a resultofthis conversation, Deputy Governor Ainstructed theDepartment

of Healthcare Services to stop its work on increasing the reimbursement for

specialty-care pediatric physicians.

Solicitation of Racetrack Executive

28. It was further part of the scheme that on or about November 13,

2008,defendant RODBLAGOJEVICH tolddefendant ROBERTBLAGOJEVICH

that he wanted campaign contributions to be made by the end ofthe year by

Racetrack Executive, who, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, managedhorse racing

tracks that would financially benefit from a bUl pending in the Illinois

legislature that would require certain IlUnois casinos to give money to a fund

that would be used to help the IUinois horse racing industry (the "Racing BUI").

At that time, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, Monk had been trying to arrange

a contribution from Racetrack Executive, and ROD BLAGOJEVICH had set a

goal ofraising $100,000 incontributions from andthrough Racetrack Executive.

29. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH had further conversations with Monk about the Racing Bill

afterit was passed bythe Illinois legislature onorabout November 20,2008. In

those conversations, ROD BLAGOJEVICH and Monk discussed whether and
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when ROD BLAGOJEVICH would sign the Racing BUI, and whether and when

Racetrack Executive would arrange for campaign contributions to ROD

BLAGOJEVICH. On or about December 3, 2008, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

indicated to Monk that he was concerned that Racetrack Executive would not

make acontribution by the end ofthe year ifhe signed the Racing BiU before the

contribution was made. As a result, Monk and ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed

that Monk would speak with Racetrack Executive to ensure that Racetrack

Executive would make a contribution by the end of the year.

30. It was further partof the scheme thatafter meeting with defendant

ROD BLAGOJEVICH on or about December 3, 2008, Monk visited Racetrack

Executive. During that visit, Monk communicated to Racetrack Executive that

ROD BLAGOJEVICH was concerned that Racetrack Executive would not make

acontribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICH ifthe Racing BiU was signed before the

contribution was made.

31. Itwas further part ofthe scheme that after meeting with Racetrack

Executive on or about December 3, 2008, Monk reported to defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH that Monk had said to Racetrack Executive, "look, there is a

concern that there is going to be some skittishness if your bUl gets signed

because of the timeliness of the commitment," and made it clear to Racetrack

Executive that the contribution has "got to be in now." ROD BLAGOJEVICH

59



jCase: l:08-cr-00888 Document*: 231 Filed: 02/04/10 Page 60 of 112 PagelD #:2057

responded, "good," and "good job."

32. It was further part ofthe scheme that on or about December 4,2008,

Monk asked defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH to caU Racetrack Executive and

to suggest that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would sign the Racing BUI, because this

would be better "from a pressure point of view." ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed

to caU Racetrack Executive.

Solicitation of Highway Contractor

33. It was further part of the scheme that on or about September 18,

2008, defendants ROD BLAGOJEVICH and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, and

Monk, met with Construction Executive, who was both an executive with a

company that manufactured and distributed road building materials and a

representative of a trade group involved with the construction of roads. In that

meeting, ROD BLAGOJEVICH said that he was planning on announcing a $1.5

bUUon road building program that would be administered through the Illinois

Toll Highway Authority (the "ToUway") and that he might authorize an

additional $6 biUion road building program later on. Shortly thereafter in the

conversation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH asked for Construction Executive's help in

raising contributions for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's campaign by the end of the

year. After Construction Executive left the meeting, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

instructed Monk to try to get Construction Executive to raise $500,000 in
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contributions. As ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, Monk subseouentlvhadaseries
of conversations with Construction Executive about the possibility „f
Construction Executive arranging for campaign contributions to ROD
BLAGOJEVICH.

34. It was further part ofthe scheme that, on or about October62008
defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH told Lobbyist Athat he would make an
announcement concerning a$1.8 billion project involving the Tollway and that
Monk would approach Construction Executive to ask that he raise substantia,
campaign contributions. ROD BLAGOJEVICH further said that he could have
announced alarger amount of money for road project, but wanted to see how

ConstructionExecutiveperformedinraisingcontributions.andhe added words
to the effect of "If they don't perform, fuck 'em.»

35. It was further part of the scheme that, on or about October 22,2008,
approximately one week after defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH publicly
announced aportion ofa$1.8 billion program to upgrade interchanges on the

toUway system, RODBLAGOJEVICHcaUed Construction Executive; spokewith
him about the $1.8 billion program, and asked how he was coming with
fundraising.
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Mb1ijS£!^ Fw nCial B6nefltS f°r ROD BLAGOJEVICHmfi^urn for his Appointment ofa llnif^ s^. p?mtvr

36. It was further part ofthe scheme that beginning in or about October
2008, and continuing until on or about December 9, 2008, defendant ROD
BLAGOJEVICH, with the assistance of Harris and defendant ROBERT
BLAGOJEVICH, and others, sought to obtain financial benefits for himselfand
Hs wife, in return for the exercise of his duty under IUinois law to appoint a
United States Senator to fill the vacancy created by the election of Barack
Obama as President of the United States.

37. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD
BLAGOJEVICH engaged in numerous conversations with others, at times
includingHarris andRobert Blagojevich, certain high-ranking employees ofthe
Office of the Governor, and certain political consultants, regarding the
advantages and disadvantages of selecting various candidates for the Senate
vacancy and as apart of those considerations, ROD BLAGOJEVICH and others
devised and set in motion plans by which ROD BLAGOJEVICH could use his
power to appoint aUnited States Senator to obtain financial benefits for himself
and his wife. At times ROD BLAGOJEVICH directed others, including state
employees, to assist in these endeavors, including by performing research and
conveying messages to thirdparties.

38. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD
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BLAGOJEVICHand his co-schemers devised and discussed means ofusing ROD
BLAGOJEVICH's power to appoint aUnited States Senator in exchange for
financial benefits for himself and his wife, which benefits would take the
foUowing forms, among others:

a. Presidential appointment of ROD BLAGOJEVICH to high-
ranking positions in the federal government, including Secretary ofHealth and
Human Services or an ambassadorship;

b. Ahighly paid leadership position with aprivate foundation
dependent on federal aid, which ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed could be
influenced by the President-elect to name ROD BLAGOJEVICH to such a
position;

c Ahighlypaidleadership position with an organization known
as "Change to Win," consisting of seven affiliated labor unions, which, in a
transaction suggested by Harris, could appoint ROD BLAGOJEVICH as its
chairman with the expectation that the President-elect would assist Change to
Win with its national legislative agenda;

d. Employment for the wife ofROD BLAGOJEVICH withaunion
organization or lobbying firm, or on corporate boards of directors;

e. Ahighlypaidleadershippositionwithanewly-creatednot-for-

profitcorporationthatRODBIAGOJEVTCHbelievedcouldbefunded withlarge
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contributions by persons associated with the President-elect; and

f. Substantial campaign fundraising assistance from individuals
seeking the United States Senate seat and their backers, includingfrom Senate
Candidate A, whose associate ROD BLAGOJEVICH understood to have offered
$1.5 million in campaign, contributions in return for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's
appointment ofSenate Candidate A.

39. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD
BLAGOJEVICH discussed with his co-schemers means by which he could
influence the President-elect to assist ROD BLAGOJEVICH in obtaining
personal benefits for himself and his wife, including by appointing as United
States Senator acandidate whom ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed to be favored
by the President-elect. At times, ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted to further this
goal by conveying messages, directly and with the assistance of others, to
individuals whom he believed to be in communication with the President-elect.

40. It was further part ofthe scheme that on or about December 4,2008,
defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed defendant ROBERT
BLAGOJEVICH to contact arepresentative ofSenate Candidate A, and advise
the representative that ifSenate Candidate Awas going to be chosen to fill the
Senate seat, some of the promised fundraising had to occur before the
appointment. ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to
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communicate the urgency of the message, and to do it in person, rather than

over the phone. ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so, and thereafter
arranged ameeting with an associate ofSenate Candidate A.

41. It was further part ofthe scheme that on or about December 5,2008,
following the publication that day of a newspaper article reporting that

defendantRODBLAGOJEVICHhadbeensurreptitiouslyrecordedinconnection
with an ongoing federal investigation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed
defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to cancel his meeting with the associate of
Senate Candidate A, and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so.

42. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, and other participants in the scheme, misrepresented,
concealed, and hid, and caused to be misrepresented, concealed, and hidden, the
purposes of and the acts done in furtherance of the scheme.

43. On or about October 17, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District
of IlUnois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-described scheme, did
knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication
in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely aphone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, IlUnois, and the ChUdren's CEO in Florida, in
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which ROD BLAGOJEVICH told the Children's CEO that ROD BLAGOJEVICH

had approved an increase in the reimbursement rate forspecialty-care pediatric

physicians;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT FOUR

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about November1, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

ofIllinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH and
ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH,

defendants herein, for thepurpose ofexecuting theabove-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois, and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH in

Nashville, Tennessee, in which ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH gave ROD

BLAGOJEVICH an update on the soUcitation ofcampaign contributions from

Construction Executive and Racetrack Executive, and they discussed potential

contributions from Senate Candidate C and Senate Candidate A;

In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT FIVE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are reaUeged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about November 7, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and John Harris, in Chicago, IlUnois, and Advisor A, in

Washington, D.C, in which ROD BLAGOJEVICH, Harris, and Advisor A

discussed financial benefits which ROD BLAGOJEVICH could request in

exchange for the appointment of Senate Candidate B to the United States

Senate;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT SIX

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about November 10,2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a conference call between

ROD BLAGOJEVICH, John Harris and others, in Chicago, Illinois, and various

advisors in Washington, D.C, and New York City, in which they discussed

financial benefits which ROD BLAGOJEVICH could request in exchange for the

appointment of Senate Candidate B to the United States Senate;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT SEVEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are reaUeged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about November 12,2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of IUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, in Chicago, IUinois, and Advisor A in Washington, D.C.

(Sessions 533, 535, and 537), in which they discussed a proposal where, in

exchange for the appointment of Senate Candidate B to the United States

Senate, a not-for-profit organization would be set up where ROD

BLAGOJEVICH would be employed when he was no longer governor;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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CQVNT EIGHT

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are reaUeged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On orabout November 12,2008, at Chicago, intheNorthern District

ofIUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, IUinois, and a labor union official in Washington,

D.C. (Session 541), in which ROD BLAGOJEVICH proposed that, in exchange

for the appointment ofSenate Candidate Bto the United States Senate, anot-

for-profit organization be set up where ROD BLAGOJEVICH would be employed

when he was no longer governor;

In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT NINE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are reaUeged and

incorporated as if fuUy set forth herein.

2. On or about November 12,2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of IlUnois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme,did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commercesignals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, IUinois, and a labor union official in Washington,

D.C. (Session 546), in which ROD BLAGOJEVICH informed the union official

that it was a very real possibility that Senate Candidate B couldget the United

States Senate appointment, and again raised his interest in employment by a

not-for-profit organization;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT TEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. Onor about November 13,2008, at Chicago,in the Northern District

of IUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, Illinois, andAdvisor Bin Michigan (Session 624),

in which theydiscussed presenting to United States Congressman Aa proposal

by ROD BLAGOJEVICH that anot-for-profit organizationbesetupandthat the

connection between setting up this organization and the awarding ofthe U.S.

Senate seat would be "unsaid";

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT ELEVEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are reaUeged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about November 13,2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of IUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means ofwire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, IUinois, and Advisor B in Michigan (Session 627),

in which ROD BLAGOJEVICH asked Advisor B to call Lobbyist A and ask

Lobbyist Atopresent toUnited States Congressman AROD BLAGOJEVICH's

proposal that a not-for-profit organization beset up and that, while it would be

unsaid, this would be a "play" to obtain a financial benefit for ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in return for the awarding of the United States Senate seat;

In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT TWELVE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth, herein.

2. On or about December 4, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of IUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone call between ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in Chicago, IUinois, and Alonzo Monk in Miami, Florida, in

which ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed with Monk that, in order to obtain the

campaign contribution sought from Racetrack Executive in exchange for a

prompt signing of the Racing BUI, it would be better "from a pressure point of

view" for ROD BLAGOJEVICH himself to call Racetrack Executive to discuss

the timing of signing the Racing Bill;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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COUNT THIRTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 42 of Count Three are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about December 4, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District

of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH and

ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH,

defendants herein, for the purpose ofexecuting the above-describedscheme,did

knowingly cause to be transmitted by means of wire and radio communication

in interstate commerce signals and sounds, namely a phone caU between ROD

BLAGOJEVICHand Deputy Governor A in Chicago, Illinois, and Advisor A in

Washington, D.C, in which ROD BLAGOJEVICH said that if he gave the

Senate seat to Senate Candidate A, there would be "tangible political support

... specific amounts and everything some of it up front";

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.

76



Case: l:08-cr-00888 Document #: 231 Filed: 02/04/10 Page 77 of 112 PagelD #:2074

COUNT FOURTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a) and 1(b) of Count One are reaUeged and

incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about 2005 and continuing through in or about 2006,

in the Northern District of IUinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion would

obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to obtain

property, in the form of poUtical contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from United States Congressman A and United States

CongressmanA's brother, with the consent ofUnited States CongressmanA and

United States Congressman A's brother, under color of official right;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT FIFTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(f) of Count One are reaUeged and

incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of IUinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, and others did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion

would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to

obtain property, in the form of political contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from the Chief Executive Officer of ChUdren's Memorial

Hospital, and Children's Memorial Hospital, with the consent of the Chief

Executive Officerand Children's Memorial Hospital under colorofofficial right,

and inducedbythe wrongful use ofactual and threatened fear ofeconomic harm;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT SIXTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(f) of Count One are reaUeged and

incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or around October 2008, and continuing to on or about

December 9, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District of IUinois, Eastern

Division,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, as an agent of the State of IUinois, corruptly solicited and

demanded things of value, namely poUtical contributions from the Chief

Executive Officer of Children's Memorial Hospital, and ChUdren's Memorial

Hospital, intending tobe influenced and rewarded in connectionwith a business,

transaction, and series of transactions of the State of IUinois involving a thing

ofvalue of$5,000or more,namely, increasing reimbursement rates forspecialty-

care pediatric physicians, the State of IlUnois being a State government that

received in excess of$10,000 in federal funding in a twelve-month periodfrom

January 1, 2008, to December 31, 2008;

In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(1)(B) and 2.
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COUNT SEVENTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(e) of Count One are reaUeged and

incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning onorabout December 3, 2008 andcontinuing through on

orabout December 9,2008, intheNorthern DistrictofIllinois, EasternDivision,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, conspired with Alonzo Monk and others, tocommit extortion,

which extortion would obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that they agreed

to obtain property, in the form of poUtical contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from Racetrack Executive and two horse racing tracks with

which Racetrack Executive was affiliated, with the consent of Racetrack

Executive andthehorse racing tracks under color ofofficial right, and induced

by the wrongful use ofactual and threatened fear of economic harm.

3. It was part of the conspiracy that on or about December 3, 2008,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH spoke withMonk aboutRacetrack Executive,

who, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, managed horse racing tracks that would

financiaUy benefit from a biU that had been passed by theIUinois legislature on

November 20, 2008, that would require certainIlUnois casinos to give money to
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a fund that would be used to help the IUinois horse racing industry (the "Racing

Bill"). As ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, Monk had been talking with Racetrack

Executive prior to December 3, 2008, about making a campaign contribution to

RODBLAGOJEVICH. Duringtheir conversation on or about December 3,2008,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH indicated to Monk that he was concerned that Racetrack

Executive would not make a contribution by the end of the year if ROD

BLAGOJEVICH signed the Racing BiU before the contribution was made. As a

result, Monk and ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed that Monk would speak with

Racetrack Executive to ensure that Racetrack Executive would make a

contribution by the end of the year.

5. It was further part of the conspiracy that after meeting with

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH on or about December 3, 2008, Monk visited

Racetrack Executive. During that visit, Monk communicated to Racetrack

Executive that ROD BLAGOJEVICH was concerned that Racetrack Executive

would not make a contribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICH if the Racing BiU was

signed before the contribution was made.

6. It was further part of the conspiracy that after meeting with

Racetrack Executive on or about December 3,2008, Monk reported to defendant

ROD BLAGOJEVICH that Monk had said to Racetrack Executive, "look, there

is a concern that there is going to be some skittishness if your bill gets signed
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because of the timeliness of the commitment," and made it clear to Racetrack

Executive that the contribution has "got to be in now." ROD BLAGOJEVICH

responded, "good," and "goodjob."

7. It was further part of the conspiracy that on or about December 4,

2008, Monk asked defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH to call Racetrack Executive

and to suggest that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would sign the Racing BiU, because

this would be better "from a pressure point of view." ROD BLAGOJEVICH

agreed to caU Racetrack Executive.

8. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and Monk did misrepresent, conceal and hide, and cause tobe

misrepresented, concealed, and hidden, the acts done in furtherance of the

conspiracy and the purposes of those acts;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT EIGHTEEN

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(e) of Count One are realleged and

incorporated as thoughfuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginningon or about December3,2008, and continuingthroughon

or about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District ofIUinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH, and
ALONZO MONK,

defendants herein, did conspire with each other and others, to corruptly sohcit

and demand things ofvalue, namely political contributions for the benefit of

ROD 3LAGOJEVICH, aagent of the State ofIllinois, from Racetrack Executive

and two horse racing tracks with which Racetrack Executive was affiliated,

intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection with a business,

transaction, and series of transactions of the State of IlUnois involving a thing

of value of $5,000 or more, namely, the signing of a bUl that had passed the

IUinois legislature and that would financially help the IUinois horse racing

industry, theState of IUinois being a State government that received in excess

of$10,000 in federal funding in atwelve-month period from January 1, 2008, to

December 31, 2008, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

666(a)(1)(B).
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3. It was part of the conspiracy that on or about December 3, 2008,

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH spoke with defendantMONK about Racetrack

Executive, who, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, managed horse racing tracks

that would financiaUy benefit from a biU that had been passed by the IUinois

legislature on November 20, 2008, that would require certain IUinois casinos to

give money to a fund that would be used to help the IlUnois horse racing

industry (the "Racing Bill"). As ROD BLAGOJEVICH knew, MONK had been

talking with Racetrack Executive prior to December 3, 2008, about making a

campaign contribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICH. During their conversation on

or about December 3, 2008, ROD BLAGOJEVICH indicated toMONK that he

was concerned thatRacetrack Executive would not make a contribution by the

end of the year if ROD BLAGOJEVICH signed the Racing Bill before the

contribution was made. As aresult, MONK and ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed

that MONK would speak with Racetrack Executive to ensure that Racetrack

Executive would make a contribution by the end of the year.

4. It was further part of the conspiracy that after meeting with

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH on or about December 3, 2008, defendant

MONK visited Racetrack Executive. During that visit, MONK communicated

toRacetrack Executive that ROD BLAGOJEVICH was concerned thatRacetrack

Executive would not make acontribution to ROD BLAGOJEVICHifthe Racing

Bill was signed before the contribution was made.
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5. It was further part of the conspiracy that after meeting with

Racetrack Executive on or about December 3, 2008, defendant MONK reported

to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH thatMONK had said to Racetrack Executive,
"look, there is aconcern that there is going to be some skittishness if your biU

gets signed because of the timeliness of the commitment," and made it clear to

Racetrack Executive that the contribution has "got to be in now." ROD

BLAGOJEVICH responded, "good," and "good job."

6. It was further part of the conspiracy that on or about December 4,

2008, defendant MONK asked defendantROD BLAGOJEVICH to caU Racetrack

Executive and to suggest that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would sign the Racing Bill,

because this would be better "from a pressure point of view." ROD

BLAGOJEVICH agreed to call Racetrack Executive.

7- It was further part of the conspiracy that defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and MONK did misrepresent, conceal and hide, and cause to

be misrepresented, concealed, and hidden, the acts done in furtherance of the

conspiracy and the purposes of those acts.

Overt Acta

8. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects and

purposes, defendants ROD BLAGOJEVICH and ALONZO MONK committed

and caused to be committed the foUowing overt acts, among others, within the

Northern District ofIUinois and elsewhere:
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a. On or about December 3, 2008, in ameeting at the Friends of

Blagojevich offices, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH indicated to defendant
MONK that he was concerned that Racetrack Executive would not make a
contribution by the end of the year if he signed the Racing BUI before the
contribution was made and, as a result, MONK and ROD BLAGOJEVICH
agreed that MONK would speak with Racetrack Executive to ensure that
Racetrack Executive would make acontribution by the end of the year.

b. On or about December 3, 2008, after meeting with defendant
ROD BLAGOJEVICH, defendant MONK visited Racetrack Executive and
communicated to Racetrack Executive that ROD BLAGOJEVICH was
concerned that Racetrack Executive would not make acontribution to ROD

BLAGOJEVICHiftheRacingBiU was signed before the contribution wasmade.
c On or about December 3, 2008, after meeting with Racetrack

Executive, defendant MONK reported to defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH that
MONK had said to Racetrack Executive, 'look, there is aconcern that there is
going to be some skittishness ifyour Mil gets signed because ofthe timeliness of
thecommitment/'andmadeitclear to Racetrack Executive that the contribution
has "got to be in now," to which ROD BLAGOJEVICH responded, "good," and
"good job."

d. On or about December 4, 2008, defendant MONK asked

defendantRODBLAGOJEVICH to call Racetrack Executive andto suggest that
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ROD BLAGOJEVICH would sign the Racing BiU, because this would be better
"from apressure point ofview." ROD BLAGOJEVICH agreed to caU Racetrack
Executive.

All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT WNTCrPF^N

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(e) of Count One are realleged and
incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about September 2008 and continuing through

December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and
elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, and others did attempt to commit extortion, which extortion

would obstruct/delay, and affect commerce, in that the defendant attempted to

obtain property, in the form of political contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH from Construction Executive (who was both an executive with

a company that supphed materials for road construction, and a representative

ofatrade group involved with the construction ofroads), and from the company

that employed Construction Executive, with the consent of Construction

Executive and his employer under color of official right, and induced by the

wrongful use of actual and threatened fear of economic harm;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), and 1(e) of Count One are reaUeged and

incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or around September 2008, and continuing to on or

about December 9, 2008, at Chicago, in the Northern District ofIUinois, Eastern
Division,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, as an agent of the State of IUinois, corruptly solicited and

demanded things of value, namely political contributions from Construction

Executive (who was both an executive with acompany that suppUed materials

for road construction, and arepresentative of atrade group involved with the

construction of roads), and from the company that employed Construction

Executive, intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection with a

business, transaction, and series of transactions ofthe State ofIUinois involving

athing ofvalue of $5,000 or more, namely, funding for road buUding programs,

the State ofIUinois being aState government that received in excess of$10,000

in federal funding in atwelve-month period from January 1, 2008, to December
31, 2008;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(1)(B) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY-ONE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), 1(e) through 1(g), and 1(1) of Count One are

realleged and incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division,
and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH, and
ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH,

defendants herein, did conspire with John Harris and others to commitextortion

in relation to the appointment ofaUnited States Senator, which extortion would

obstruct, delay, and affect commerce, in that they agreed to obtain property, for

the benefit ofROD BLAGOJEVICH, from various individuals, with the consent

of those individuals under color of official right.

3. It was part ofthe conspiracy that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

with the assistance of defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH and Harris, and

others, sought to obtain financial benefits for himselfand his wife, in return for

the exercise of his duty under IUinois law to appoint aUnited States Senator to

fill the vacancy created by the election of Barack Obama as President of the

United States.
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4. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH engaged in numerous conversations with others, at times

includingHarris and defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, certain high-ranking

employees of the Office of the Governor, and certain political consultants,

regarding the advantages and disadvantages of selecting various candidates for

the Senate vacancy and as a part of those considerations, ROD BLAGOJEVICH

and others devised and set in motion plans by which ROD BLAGOJEVICH could

use his power to appoint a United States Senator to obtain financial benefits for

himself and his wife. At times ROD BLAGOJEVICH directed others, including

state employees, to assist in these endeavors, including by performing research

and conveying messages to third parties.

5. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and his co-conspirators devised and discussed means of using

ROD BLAGOJEVICH's power to appoint a United States Senator in exchange

for financial benefits for himself and his wife, which benefits would take the

foUowing forms, among others:

a. Presidential appointment of ROD BLAGOJEVICH to high-

ranking positions in the federal government, including Secretary of Health and

Human Services or an ambassadorship;
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b. A highly paid leadership position with a private foundation

dependent on federal aid, which ROD BLAGOJEVICH beUeved could be

influenced by the President-elect to name ROD BLAGOJEVICH to such a

position;

c. A highly paid leadership position with an organization known

as "Change to Win," consisting of seven affiliated labor unions, which, in a

transaction suggested by Harris, could appoint ROD BLAGOJEVICH as its

chairman with the expectation that the President-elect would assist Change to

Win with its national legislative agenda;

d. Employmentfor the wife ofROD BLAGOJEVICH with a union

organization or lobbying firm, or on corporate boards of directors;

e. A highly paid leadership position with a newly-created not-for-

profitcorporation that ROD BLAGOJEVICH beUeved couldbefundedwith large

contributions by persons associated with the President-elect; and

f. Substantial campaignfundraising assistance from individuals

seeking the United States Senate seat and their backers, including from Senate

Candidate A, whose associate ROD BLAGOJEVICH understood to have offered

$1.5 milUon in campaign contributions in return for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

appointment of Senate Candidate A.

92



Case: l:08-cr-00888 Document#: 231 Filed: 02/04/10 Page 93 of 112 PagelD #2090

6. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH discussed with his co-conspirators means by which he could

influence the President-elect to assist ROD BLAGOJEVICH in obtaining

personal benefits for himself and his wife, including by appointing as United

States Senator a candidate whom ROD BLAGOJEVICH beUeved to be favored

bythe President-elect. Attimes, ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted tofurther this

goal by conveying messages, directly and with the assistance of others, to

individuals whom he believed to be in communication with the President-elect.

7. It was further part of the conspiracy that on or about December 4,

2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed defendant ROBERT

BLAGOJEVICH to contact a representative ofSenate Candidate A, and advise

the representative that if Senate Candidate A was goingto be chosento fill the

Senate seat, some of the promised fundraising had to occur before the

appointment, ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to

communicate the urgency of the message, and to do it in person, rather than

over the phone. ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so, and thereafter

arranged a meeting with an associate of Senate Candidate A.

8. It was further part of the conspiracy that on or about December 5,

2008, foUowing the pubUcation that day of a newspaper article reporting that

defendant RODBLAGOJEVICHhad been surreptitiously recorded in connection
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with an ongoing federal investigation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed

defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to cancel his meeting with the associate of

Senate Candidate A, and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so.

9. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, and Harris, and others, did

misrepresent, conceal and hide, and cause to be misrepresented, concealed, and

hidden, the acts done in furtherance ofthe conspiracy and the purposes ofthose

acts;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY-TWO

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), 1(e) through 1(g), and 1(1) of Count One are

reaUeged and incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District of IUinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH, and
ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH,

defendants herein, and others did attempt to commitextortion in relation to the

appointment of a United States Senator, which extortion would obstruct, delay,

and affect commerce, in that the defendants attempted to obtain property, for

the benefit ofROD BLAGOJEVICH, from various individuals, with the consent

of those individuals under color ofofficial right;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951(a) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY-THREE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a), 1(b), 1(e) through 1(g), and 1(1) of Count One are

.reaUeged and incorporated as though fuUy set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or about October 2008 and continuing through on or

about December 9, 2008, in the Northern District ofIUinois, Eastern Division,

and elsewhere,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,
ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, and

JOHN HARRIS,

defendants herein, did conspire with each other andothers, to corruptly soUcit

and demand things ofvalue, for the benefit ofROD BLAGOJEVICH, an agent

ofthe State of IUinois, intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection

with a business, transaction, and series of transactions of the State of IUinois

involving a thing of value of $5,000 or more, namely, the appointment of a

United States Senator, the State of IUinois being a State government that

received in excess of$10,000 in federal funding in a twelve-month period from

January 1, 2008, to December 31, 2008, in violation ofTitle 18, United States

Code, Section 666(a)(1)(B).

3. It was part ofthe conspiracy that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

with the assistance ofdefendants ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH and HARRIS, and
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others, sought to obtain financial benefits for himselfandhiswife, in returnfor

the exercise ofhis duty under IUinois law to appoint a United States Senator to

fiU the vacancy created by the election ofBarack Obama as President ofthe

United States.

4. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH engaged in numerous conversations with others, at times

including defendants HARRIS and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, certain high-

ranking employees of the Office of the Governor, and certain political

consultants, regarding the advantages and disadvantages ofselecting various

candidates for the Senate vacancy and as a part ofthose considerations, ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and others devised and set in motion plans by which ROD

BLAGOJEVICH could use his power to appoint a United States Senator to

obtain financial benefits for himself and his wife. At times ROD

BLAGOJEVICH directed others, including state employees, to assist in these

endeavors, including by performing research and conveying messages to third

parties.

5. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and his co-conspirators devised and discussed means ofusing

ROD BLAGOJEVICH's power toappoint a United StatesSenator in exchange
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for financial benefits for himself and his wife, which benefits would take the

following forms, among others:

a. Presidential appointment ofROD BLAGOJEVICH to high-

ranking positions in the federal government, including Secretary ofHealth and

Human Services or an ambassadorship;

b. A highly paid leadership position with a private foundation

dependent on federal aid, which ROD BLAGOJEVICH beUeved could be

influenced by the President-elect to name ROD BLAGOJEVICH to such a

position;

c. Ahighly paid leadership position with an organization known

as "Change to Win," consisting of seven affiliated labor unions, which, in a

transaction suggested by defendant HARRIS, could appoint ROD

BLAGOJEVICH as its chairman with the expectation that the President-elect

would assist Change to Win with its national legislative agenda;

d. Employment for the wife ofROD BLAGOJEVICH with a union

organization or lobbying firm, or on corporate boards of directors;

e. A highly paid leadership position with a newly-created not-for-

profit corporation that ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed could befunded withlarge

contributions by persons associated with the President-elect; and
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f. Substantial campaignfundraising assistance from individuals

seeking the United States Senate seat and their backers, including from Senate

Candidate A, whose associate ROD BLAGOJEVICH understood to have offered

$1.5 mUUon in campaign contributions in return for ROD BLAGOJEVICH's

appointment of Senate Candidate A.

6. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH discussed with his co-conspirators means by which he could

influence the President-elect to assist ROD BLAGOJEVICH in obtaining

personal benefits for himself and his wife, including by appointing as United

States Senator a candidate whom ROD BLAGOJEVICH believed to be favored

by the President-elect. At times, ROD BLAGOJEVICH attempted to further this

goal by conveying messages, directly and with the assistance of others, to

individuals whom he believed to be in communication with the President-elect.

7. It was further part of the conspiracy that on or about December 4,

2008, defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed defendant ROBERT

BLAGOJEVICH to contact a representative ofSenate Candidate A, and advise

the representative that if Senate Candidate A was going to be chosen to fill the

Senate seat, some of the promised fundraising had to occur before the

appointment. ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to

communicate the urgency of the message, and to do it in person, rather than
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over the phone. ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so, and thereafter

arranged a meeting with an associate of Senate Candidate A.

8. It was further part ofthe conspiracy that on or about December 5,

2008, following the pubUcation that day of a newspaper article reporting that

defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICHhadbeensurreptitiously recordedin connection

with an ongoing federal investigation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed

defendantROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to cancel his meetingwith the associate of

Senate Candidate A, and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so.

9. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, HARRIS, and others, did

misrepresent, conceal and hide,and cause tobe misrepresented, concealed, and

hidden, the actsdone in furtherance ofthe conspiracy and the purposes ofthose

acts.

Overt Acts

10. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects and

purposes, defendants ROD BLAGOJEVICH, ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, JOHN

HARRIS, and others committed and caused to becommitted the foUowing overt

acts, among others, within the Northern District of Illinois and elsewhere:
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a. On or about November 1, 2008, defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH, discussed potential

contributions from Senate Candidate C and Senate Candidate A.

b. On or about November 6, 2008, defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and HARRIS discussed attempting to obtain a highly paid

leadership position with an organization known as "Change to Win" for ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in exchange for ROD BLAGOJEVICH appointing a particular

individual to the vacant Senate seat.

c. On or about November 6, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH met with a labor union official who he believed to be in contact

with the President-elect in regard to the vacant Senate seat, and suggested to

the labor union official that ROD BLAGOJEVICH would appoint Senate

Candidate B to the vacant Senate seat in exchange for ROD BLAGOJEVICH

being named the Secretary of Health and Human Services.

d. On or about November 7, 2008, defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, HARRIS, and Advisor A, discussed financial benefits that ROD

BLAGOJEVICH could request in exchange for the appointment of Senate

Candidate B to the United States Senate.

e. On or about November 10, 2008, defendants ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, HARRIS, and others discussed financial benefits that ROD
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BLAGOJEVICH could request in exchange for the appointment of Senate

Candidate B to the United States Senate.

f. On or about November 12, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and Advisor A discussed a proposal where, in exchange for the

appointment ofSenate Candidate B to the United States Senate, a not-for-profit

organization would be set up where ROD BLAGOJEVICH would be employed

when he was no longer governor.

g. On or about November 12, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and a labor union official (Session 541) had a discussion in

which ROD BLAGOJEVICH proposed that, in exchange for the appointment of

Senate Candidate B to the United States Senate, a not-for-profit organization be

set up and funded where RODBLAGOJEVICH wouldbe employedwhen he was

no longer governor.

h. On or about November 12, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and a labor union official (Session 546) had a discussion in

which ROD BLAGOJEVICH informed the union official that it was a very real

possibility that Senate Candidate B could get the United States Senate

appointment, and again raised his interest in employment by a not-for-profit

organization.
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i. On or about November 13, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and Advisor B (Session 624) had a discussion in which they

discussed presenting to United States Congressman A a proposal by ROD

BLAGOJEVICH that a not-for-profit organizationbeset up and fundedand that

the connection betweensettingupthis organization and the awardingofthe U.S.

Senate seat would be "unsaid."

j. On or about November 13, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH and Advisor B (Session 627) had a discussion in which ROD

BLAGOJEVICH asked Advisor B to caU Lobbyist A and ask Lobbyist A to

present to United States Congressman A ROD BLAGOJEVICH's proposal that

a not-for-profit organization be set up and that, while it would be unsaid, this

would be a "play" to obtain a financial benefit for ROD BLAGOJEVICH in return

for the awarding of the United States Senate seat. .

k. On or about December. 4, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, Deputy Governor A, and Advisor A had a discussion in which

ROD BLAGOJEVICH said that if he gave the Senate seat to Senate Candidate

A, there would be "tangible political support . . . specific amounts and

everything some of it up front."

1. On or about December 4, 2008, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH instructed defendant ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to contact a
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representative of Senate Candidate A, and advise the representative that if

Senate Candidate A was going to be chosen to fiU the Senate seat, some of the

promised fundraising had to occur before the appointment. ROD

BLAGOJEVICH instructed ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH to communicate the

urgency of the message, and to do it in person, rather than over the phone.

ROBERT BLAGOJEVICH agreed to do so.

m. On or about December 4, 2008, defendant ROBERT

BLAGOJEVICH arranged a meeting with a representative ofSenate Candidate

A, after getting direction from defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH to contact the

representative of Senate Candidate A in order to advise the representative that

if Senate Candidate A was going to be chosen to fill the Senate seat, some ofthe

promised fundraising had to occur before the appointment.

n. On or about December 5,2008, foUowing the pubUcation that

day ofa newspaper article reporting that defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH had

been surreptitiously recorded in connection with an ongoing federal

investigation, ROD BLAGOJEVICH instructed defendant ROBERT

BLAGOJEVICH to cancel his meeting with the associate of Senate Candidate

A.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT TWENTY-FOUR

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1(a) and (b)ofCount One are reaUeged and incorporated

as though fully set forth herein.

2. In 2005, the Federal Bureau of Investigation was investigating

corruption and fraudulent conduct relating to the Office of the Governor of

IUinois and related entities and individuals (the "Investigation"). As of March

16, 2005, the following matters, among others, were material to the

Investigation:

a. Whether defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH and his associates

soUcited business entities for campaign contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH in exchange for obtaining or keeping state contracts and other

business opportunities with State agencies, boards, and commissions;

b. Whether defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH and his associates

solicited individuals for campaign contributions for the benefit of ROD

BLAGOJEVICH as a conditionofobtaining state employment and appointments

to state boards and commissions;

c. Whether defendant ROD BLAGOJEVICH and his associates

required that campaign contributions for the benefit ofROD BLAGOJEVICH be

in certain amounts in order for the contributors to obtain state employment,
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appointments to state boards and commissions, state contracts, and other

business opportunities with state entities;

d. Whether, after becoming Governor of IlUnois, defendant ROD

BLAGOJEVICH kept informedofthe individuals and entities contributing tohis

poUtical campaign and the amounts of the contributions.

2. On or about March 16, 2005, in Chicago, in the Northern District of

IUinois, Eastern Division,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, did knowingly and wUlfuUy make materiaUy false, fictitious

and fraudulent statements and representations in a matter within the

jurisdiction of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, an agency within the

executive branch of the Government of the United States, when ROD

BLAGOJEVICH, interviewed by agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation

in the presence of his counsel, stated in sum and substance that:

Since the time that he became governor,

(i) ROD BLAGOJEVICH has tried to maintain a firewall between
poUtics and government; and

(ii) ROD BLAGOJEVICH does not track, or want to know, who
contributes to him or how much they are contributing to him;
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Whereas, in truth and in fact, as ROD BLAGOJEVICH then weU knew,

these statements were false;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001(a)(2).
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. The aUegations contained in Count One and Count Two are

reaUeged and incorporated by reference for the purposes of alleging forfeiture

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963.

2. As a result ofthe violations ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections

1962(c)and 1962(d), as alleged in the foregoing indictment,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein:

a. has acquired and maintained interests in violation ofTitle 18,

United States Code,Section 1962,which interests are subject to forfeiture to the

United States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963(a)(1);

b. has interests in, claims against, and property and contractual

rights affording sources of influence over, the enterprise, described in Count

One, which the defendant estabUshed, operated, controUed, conducted, and

participated in the conduct of, and conspired to do so, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1962, thereby making all such interests, claims, and

property and contractual rights subject to forfeiture to the United States of

America pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963(a)(2); and

c. has property constituting and derived from proceeds obtained,
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directly and indirectly, from racketeering activity in violation ofTitle 18,United

States Code, Section 1963(a)(3).

3. The interests of the defendant subject to forfeiture to the United

States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963(a)(1), (a)(2), and

(a)(3) include but are not Umited to:

(a) AUfunds, certificates of deposit, letters ofcredit and assets held by
Ravenswood Bank, DuQuoin State Bank, First Suburban National
Bank, and Community Bank of DuPage in the name ofor on behalf
of Friends of Blagojevich; and

(b) Approximately $438,370.

4. To the extent that the property and the proceeds described above as

being subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

1963, as a result of any acts or omission by the defendant:

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diUgence;

have been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

have been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

have been substantially diminished in value, or;

have been commingled with other property which cannot be
subdivided without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1963(m), to seek forfeiture of any other property, of the
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defendant up to the value oftheproceeds and property described above asbeing

subject to forfeiture, including:

a. . Real property located at 1736 18th Street, NW, Apartment
303, Washington, DC, 20009-6105 and legaUy described as
foUows:

Lot 2075, Block 0133, Map 40 D
PIN: 0133//2075

b. Real property located at 2934 Sunnyside Avenue, Chicago,
IUinois, and legally described as follows:

LOT 24 AND THE SOUTH 20 FEET OF LOT 25 IN BLOCK
52 IN RAVENSWOOD MANOR, BEING A SUBDIVTSON OF
PART OF THE NORTH Y> OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 40
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
PIN: 13-13-121-031;

Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963.
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION TWO

The SPECIAL FEBRUARY 2008-2 GRAND JURY further charges:

1. The aUegations contained in Counts Three through Thirteen are

reaUeged and incorporated by reference for the purposes of alleging forfeiture

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28,

United States Code, Section 2461(c).

2. As a result ofthe violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

1343 and 1346, as alleged in the foregoing indictment,

ROD BLAGOJEVICH,

defendant herein, shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United

States Code, Section, 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, United States Code, Section

2461(c), any and aUright, title and interest in property, real andpersonal, which

constitutes and is derived from proceeds traceable to the charged offenses.

3. The interests of the defendant subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section, 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461(c) include but are not Umited to approximately $438,370.

4. If any of the property subject to forfeiture and described above, as

a result of any act or omission of the defendant:

Cannot be located upon the exercise of due diUgence;

Has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
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Has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

Has been substantially diminished in value; or

Has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty,

the UnitedStates ofAmerica shallbeentitled toforfeiture ofsubstitute property

under the provisions of Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as

incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), including

a. Real property located at 1736 18* Street, NW, Apartment
303, Washington, District of Columbia, 20009-6105 and
legally described as follows:

Lot 2075, Block 0133, Map 40 D
PIN: 0133//2075

b. Real property located at 2934 Sunnyside Avenue Chicago,
IUinois, and legally described as follows:

LOT 24 AND THE SOUTH 20 FEET OF LOT 25 IN BLOCK
52 IN RAVENSWOOD MANOR, BEING A SUBDIVISON OF
PART OF THE NORTH tf OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 40
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
PIN: 13-13-121-031;

Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title

28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BILL:

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

FOREPERSON

Ihereby attest and certify on.
that the foregoing document
correct copy of the original on file In my
office and in my legal custody.

112 CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT f

(Signature)

is a full, true. end
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Northern District of Illinois

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

Rod Blagojevich

Date of Original Judgment: 12/7/2011
(Or Date ofLast Amended Judgment)
Reason for Amendment:
IE1 Correction ofSentence on Remand (18 U.S.C. 3742(f)(1)

and (2))

• Reduction ofSentence for Changed Circumstances (Fed. R.
Crim.P. 35(b))

• Correction ofSentence by Sentencing Court (Fed. R. Crim. P
35(a))

• Correction ofSentence for Clerical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P.
36)

THE DEFENDANT:
• pleaded guilty to counts)
G pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court.

*I8 was found guilty on counts) 3s, 7s-13s, 15s-18s and 24s ofthe Second Superseding Indictment after aplea ofnot guilty
The defendant is adjudicated guilty ofthese offenses:
Title &Section Nature ofOffense

AMENDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE

Case Number:

USM Number:

08cr888-l

40892-424

Leonard C. Goodman

Defendant's Attorney

D Modification ofSupervision Conditions (18 U.S.C. §§ 3563(c) i
3583(e))

LJ Modification ofImposed Term ofImprisonment for Extraordim
and Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. §3582(c)(1))

LJ Modification ofImposed Term ofImprisonment for Retroactive
Amendments) totheSentencing Guidelines (18 U.S.C. §
3582(c)(2))

• Direct Motion to District Court Pursuant • 28 U.S.C. §225:
or • 18 U.S.C. §3559(c)(7)

D Modification ofRestitution Order (18 U.S.C. §3664)

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 Wire Fraud Under Color ofOfficial Right/Extortion Under 12/9/2008

Color ofOfficial Right (Attempt/Conspiracy)/Conspiracy to
Solicit and Solicitation of Bribe

False Statements 12/9/2008

Offense Ended Count

3s, 7s-13s, 15s-

18 U.S.C. §1001
24s

S^nci^^MtomM^K^WidediDm(iS *thTOU8h * rf^i""*""* The sentence is imposed pursuant to the
E9 The defendant has been found not guilty on counts) 20s

*B Counts) 1-13 &16-19; 4s-6s, 14s, 19s, 21s -23s dismissed on the motion ofthe United States.

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days ofany change ofname
T ^ ? "T"f ^(^eSS until *" fines' restitution,costs- ""d special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. Ifordered f
pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney ofmaterial changes in economic circmnstonces.

lrwbyattBatandoBfthVon5~yS-/y wanni*
that the foregoing document It afull. true, and $3 i, •♦; «
correct copy ofthe original on file In my BJateXof Imposition of
office and In my legal custody. \\ a (j >c /•
£{£«<. U.S. DISTRICT COURT ^gWture ofJudge 3^C/T
NORTHERN DISTRICT fiF \UfiHnift^*^ S / S^ 1 O

nes B. Zagel, U.S
'Name and Title of Judge

Date **V*\\*.\*

Judge
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DEFENDANT: ROD BLAGOJEVICH
CASE NUMBER: 08CR888-1

IMPRISONMENT

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody ofthe United States Bureau ofPrisons to be imprisoned for atotal term of:
One hundred and sixty eight (168) months. Said term consists ofone hundred sixty eight (168) months on Counts three (3s), seven throui

thirteen (7s-13s), fifteen (15s) and seventeen (17s); sixty (60) months on Counts sixteen (16s) and eighteen (18s); and thirty six (36) monti
on Count twenty four (24s) to run concurrently to each other for atotal term ofimprisonment ofone hundred and sixty eight (168) month

13 The court makes the foUowing recommendations to the Bureau ofPrisons: Remain incarcerated at FCI Englewood, CO. Continm
participation in RDAP while incarcerated.

D The defendant is remanded to the custody ofthe United States Marshal.
• The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district:

• at on

D as notified bythe United States Marshal.

• The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau ofPrisons:
D before 2:00 pm on

D as notified bythe United States Marshal.

D as notified bythe Probation or Pretrial Services Office.

RETURN

Ihave executed this judgment as follows:

££? delivered on to 8t •with a«rtM-d c°pyof*is

UNITED STATES MARSHAL

By
DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL
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DEFENDANT: ROD BLAGOJEVICH ~"
CASE NUMBER: 08CR888-1

MANDATORY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C §3583(d)

Upon release from imprisonment, you shall be on supervised release for a term of:

You must report to the probation office in the district to which you are released within 72 hours ofrelease from the custody oftl
Bureau ofPrisons. The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below:

During the periodofsupervised release:
El (1) you shall not commit another Federal, State, or local crime.
IS (2) you shall not unlawfully possess acontrolled substance.
• (3) you shall attend apublic, private, or private nonprofit offender rehabilitation program that has been approved by the

court, ifan approved program is readily available within a50-mile radius ofyour legal residence. [Use for afirst
conviction ofadomestic violence crime, as defined in§3561(b).]

U (4) you shall register and comply with all requirements ofthe Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.G §

El (5) you shall cooperate in the collection ofaDNA sample ifthe collection ofsuch asample is required by law.
El (6) you shall refrain from any unlawful use ofacontrolled substance AND submit to one drug test within 15 days ofrelease

on supervised release and at least two periodic tests thereafter, up to 104 periodic tests for use ofacontrolled substance
during each year ofsupervised release. [This mandatory condition may be ameliorated or suspended by the court for any
defendant ifreliable sentencing information indicates alow risk offuture substance abuse by the defendant]

DISCRETIONARY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C §3563(b) AN
18 U.S.C § 3583(d)

Discretionary Conditions —The court orders that you abide by the following conditions during the term ofsupervised release because s>
conditions are reasonably related to the factors set forth in §3553fatth and (M2UB\ (C). and (T>Y. such conditions involve only such
deprivations of liberty or property as are reasonably necessary for the purposes indicated in §3J52 (a¥2UB). (O.and mi: and such
conditions are consistent with any pertinent policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994a.
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below:

Duringthe periodofsupervised release:
H (1) you shall provide financial support to any dependents iffinancially able.
• (2) you shall make restitution to avictim ofthe offense under §3556 (but not subject to the limitation of§3663(a) or

83663AfcVttrAV,.

G (3) you shall give to the victims ofthe offense notice pursuant to the provisions off3555. as follows: £$$$
G3 (4) you shall seek, and work conscientiously at, lawful employment or pursue conscientiously acourse ofstudy or

vocational training that will equip you for employment,
LI (5) you shall refrain from engaging in aspecified occupation, business, or profession bearing areasonably direct

relationship to the conduct constituting the offense, or engage in such aspecified occupation, business, or profession
only to astated degree or under stated circumstances; (ifchecked yes, please indicate restrictions)) 'jjM'jU

fe3 (6) you shall refrain from knowingly meeting or communicating with any person whom you know to be engaged, or
planning tobeengaged, incriminal activity and from:

• visiting the following type ofplaces: :?*$£'.
• knowingly meeting or communicating with the foUowing persons: ££^.

El (7) you shall refrain from EJanyor • excessive use ofalcohol (defined as D having ablood alcohol
concentration greater than 0.08; or Q ),orany use ofanarcotic drug orother controlled substance, as
defined in §102 ofthe Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. §802), without aprescription by alicensed medical
practitioner.

fc3 (8) youshall refrain from possessing afirearm, destructive device, or other dangerous weapon.
• (9) • you shall participate, at the direction ofaprobation officer, in asubstance abuse treatment program, which

may include urine testing up to amaximum of104 tests per year.
• you shall participate, at the direction ofaprobation officer, in amental health treatment program, which

may include theuse ofprescription medications.
• you shall participate, at the direction ofaprobation officer, in medical care; (ifchecked yes, please specify:
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• (10) (intermittent confinement): you shall remain in the custody ofthe Bureau ofPrisons during nights, weekends, or other
intervals oftime, totaling >^ [no more than the lesser ofone year or the term ofimprisonment authorized for the
offense], during the first year ofthe term ofsupervised release (provided, however, that acondition set forth in §
3563(b)(10) shall be imposed only for aviolation ofacondition ofsupervised release in accordance with §3583(e)(2)
and only when facilities are available) for the foUowing period $£$£.

• (11) (community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program ofacommunity corrections facility
(including afacility maintained or under contract to the Bureau ofPrisons) for all or part ofthe term ofsupervised
release, fora period of r#f;. months.

D (12) you shall work in community service for ^j£hours as directed by aprobation officer.
LJ 03) you shall reside in the following place or area:iS&*, or refrain from residing in aspecified place or area:,: ,: .
BS (14) you shall remain within the jurisdiction where you are being supervised, unless granted permission to leave by the

court or a probation officer.
Ej (15) youshall report to aprobation officer as directed by the court or aprobation officer.
g| (16) G3 youshall permit aprobation officer to visit you El at any reasonable time or • as specified:

Sat home Elat work • at school Elat acommunity service location
E3 other reasonable location specified by aprobation officer

EJ you shall permit confiscation ofany contraband observed in plain view ofthe probation officer.
13 (17) you shall notify aprobation officer promptly, within 72 hours, ofany change in residence, employer, or workplace

and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by aprobation officer,
n not ^U Sha11 UOtify *probation officer Promptly, vrithin 72 hours, ifarrested or questioned by alaw enforcement officer.
U (19) (home confinement): you shall remain at your place ofresidence for atotal of ouVfe months during nonworking

hours. [This condition may be imposed only as an alternative to incarceration.]
D Compliance with this condition shall be monitored by telephonic or electronic signaling devices (the selection

ofwhich shall be determined by aprobation officer). Electronic monitoring shall ordinarily be used in
connection with home detention as itprovides continuous monitoring ofyour whereabouts. Voice
identification may be used in Ueu ofelectronic monitoring to monitor home confinement and provides for
random monitoring ofyour whereabouts. Ifthe offender is unable to wear an electronic monitoring device due
to health or medical reasons, itis recommended that home confinement with voice identification be ordered,
which will provide for random checks on your whereabouts. Home detention with electronic monitoring or
voice identification is not deemed appropriate and cannot be effectively administered in cases inwhich the
offender has no bona fide residence, has ahistory ofviolent behavior, serious mental health problems, or
substance abuse; has pending criminal charges elsewhere; requires frequent travel inside or outside the district;
orisrequired towork more than 60 hours per week.

D You shall pay the cost ofelectronic monitoring or voice identification at the daily contractual rate, ifyou are
financially able to do so.

U The Court waives the electronic/location monitoring component ofthis condition.
U (20) you shall comply with the terms ofany court order or order ofan administrative process pursuant to the law ofa

State, the District ofColumbia, or any other possession or territory ofthe United States, requiring payments by you
n n Sf supP°rt"^ maintenance ofachild or ofachild and the parent with whom the child is living.
U (21) (deportation): you shall be surrendered to aduly authorized official ofthe Homeland Security Department for a

determination on the issue ofdeportabflity by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the
Immigration and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. Ifordered deported, you shall not
reenter the United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent ofthe Attorney General or the
Secretary ofthe Department ofHomeland Security.

E3 (22) you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below.
U (23) (ifrequired to register under the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act) you shall submit at any time, with or

without awarrant, to asearch ofyour person and any property, house, residence, vehicle, papers, computer, other
electronic communication or data storage devices or media, and effects, by any law enforcement or probation officer
having reasonable suspicion concerning aviolation ofacondition ofsupervised release or unlawful conduct by you,
and by any probation officer in the lawful discharge ofthe officer's supervision functions (see special conditions
section). r

• (24) Other:

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 3563(b)(22) and 3583(d)
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below:

During the term ofsupervised release:
• (1) ifyou have not obtained ahigh school diploma or equivalent, you shall participate in aGeneral Educational
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n ™ ^^oP^nKGED) preparation course and seek to obtain aGED within the first year ofsupervision.
U (2) you shaU participate in an approved job skiU-training program at the direction ofaprobation officer within the first

60 days of placement on supervision.
S (3) you shall, ifunemployed after the first 60 days ofsupervision, or ifunemployed for 60 days after termination or lay

offfrom employment, perform at least 20 hours ofcommunity service per week at the direction ofthe U.S. Probation
n /A\ °ffice "ntil gainfully employed. The amount ofcommunity service shall not exceed Sp) hours.
U (4) you shall not maintain employment where you have access to other individual's personal information, including, but
n /« DOt v?*t0'SociaI Security numbers md credit cari numbers (or money) unless approved by aprobation officer
U (5) you shall not incur new credit charges or open additional lines ofcredit without the approval ofaprobation officer
n ft\ Sy°U 8re fa caa^auea with *» financial oMigations imposed by this judgment
U (6) you shaU provide aprobation officer with access to any requested financial information necessary to monitor

compliance with conditions of supervised release.

D (7) you shall notify the court ofany material change in your economic circumstances that might affect your ability to pay
restitution, fines, or special assessments.

D (8) you shall provide documentation to the IRS and pay taxes as required by law.
U (9) you shall participate ma sex offender treatment program. The specific program and provider will be determined by a

probation officer. You shall comply with all recommended treatment which may include psychological and
physiological testing. You shaU maintain use ofall prescribed medications.

• You shall comply with the requirements ofthe Computer and Internet Monitoring Program as administered by
the United States Probation Office. You shall consent to the installation ofcomputer monitoring software on
aU identified computers to which you have access. The software may restrict and/or record any and all activity
on the computer, including the capture ofkeystrokes, application information, Internet use history, email
correspondence, and chat conversations. Anotice will be placed on the computer at the time ofinstallation to
warn others ofthe existence ofthe monitoring software. You shall not remove, tamper with, reverse engineer
or in any way circumventthe software.

D The cost ofthe monitoring shall be paid by you at the monthly contractual rate, ifyou are financially able,
subject to satisfaction ofother financial obligations imposed by this judgment

• You shall not possess or use any device with access to any online computer service at any location (including
place ofemployment) without the prior approval ofaprobation officer. This includes any Internet service
provider, buUetin board system, or any other public or private network or email system.

• You shall not possess any device that could be used for covert photography without the prior approval ofa
probation officer.

• You shaU not view or possess child pornography. Ifthe treatment provider determines that exposure to other
sexually stimulating material may be detrimental tothe treatment process, or that additional conditions are
likely to assist the treatment process, such proposed conditions shall be promptly presented to the court, for a
determination, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3583(e)(2), regarding whether to enlarge or otherwise modify the
conditions ofsupervision to include conditions consistent with the recommendations ofthe treatment provider.

U You shall not without the approval ofaprobation officer and treatment provider, engage in activities that will
put you in unsupervised private contact with any person under the age of18, or visit locations where children
regularly congregate (eg., locations specified in the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act)

LJ This condition does not apply to your family members: W^ [Names]
• Your employment shall be restricted to the district and division where you reside or are supervised, unless

approval is granted by aprobation officer. Prior to accepting any form ofemploymentyou shall seek the
approval ofaprobation officer, in order to allow the probation officer the opportunity to assess the level ofrisk
to die community you will pose ifemployed in aparticular capacity. You shall not participate in any volunteer
activity that may cause you to come into direct contact with children except under circumstances approved in
advance byaprobation officer and treatment provider.

• You shall provide the probation officer with copies ofyour telephone bills, all credit card statements/receipts
and any other financial information requested. '

• You shall comply with all state and local laws pertaining to convicted sex offenders, including such laws that
impose restrictions beyond those set forthin this order.

U (10) you shall pay any financial penalty that is imposed by this judgment that remains unpaid at the commencement ofthe
term ofsupervised release. Your monthly payment schedule shall be an amount that is at least S|U or «£% of
y°" montnIy Income, defined as income net ofreasonable expenses for basic necessities such as food, shelter
utilities, insurance, and employment-related expenses.

B3 (11) you shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or special agent ofalaw enforcement agency without the
permission ofthe court.

02) H^^y*eUnitedStates,'buymoney"inAe amount of$ which you received during the commission
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n (13) ifthe probation officer determines that you pose arisk to another person (including an organization or members of
tiie community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with
that instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record ofarrests and convictions and

n „« ^bstanceiMc. The probation officer may contact the person and confirm that you have told the person about the risk.
U (14) Othen^sSi&i
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Totals
Assessment

$* 1300.00 Fine

$20,000.00
Restitution
S

D S,dH?nni?ati?n ofrestitution is Weired untilsuch determination. •̂ AmendedJudgment to aCriminal Case(A024X) will be entered after

Name ofPayee

D

D
Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $

subject to penalties for delinquency and defaultptnZtto 18 ul5 C§3612fe) ^^^0pti0nS mSheet6mav
The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest,'

123 the mterest requirement is waived for the fine.
D theinterestrequirementforthe is modified as follows:

t and it is orderedthat:

2tt^!^£^a^~«*-mm..*,110A, and 113A ofTitle 18 for offenses committed
ono
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SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

A *D Lump sum payment of$21,300 due immediately.
D balance due not later than ,or
D bda.c.tota.ccortaMwa, Qc, Qd, • *„ QFtolowio,

* OSp«M Mmctlon, regmJtog 4, ,»„„„„ rf^^^^pmfc

««P«»Wlit). ft-og™, „ «, «, a,S rfSJSSt^ P^°B™d''*"**" Fedml Bnra» »fp*™' tow. fZk

U JointandSeveral

Case Number _

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names * '°lnt and Several Corresponding Payee, If
(Including defendant number) Amount Appropriate

• The defendant shall pay the cost ofprosecution.
• The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):
• The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States:
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In the Matter of:

BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD

OF THE

ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION

AND

DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION

ROD R. BLAGOJEVICH,

Attorney-Respondent,

No. 6186764.

Commission No. 2019PR00061

ORDER

Upon consideration of the Administrator's Motion to Deem the Allegations of the

Complaint Admitted Pursuant to Commission Rule 236 (Motion) and Respondent having

received due notice and filed no response;

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. The Administrator's Motion is granted; and

2. The allegations of the Complaint are deemed admitted. No further proof of the

allegations of the Complaint is required.

CERTIFICATION

I, Kenneth G. Jablonski, Clerk ofthe Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission
of the Supreme Court of Illinois and keeper of the records, hereby certifies that the foregoing is a
true copy of the order, approved by the Hearing Board Chair, entered in the above entitled cause
of record filed in myoffice on September 10, 2019.

MAINLIB #U87808_vl

dU&\&to&[enneth G. lablc-n^i, Clerk of the
Attorney Registration and Disciplinary

Commissionof the Supreme Court of Illinois

FILED

September 10, 2019

ARDC CLERK



PROOF OF SERVICE

I, Michelle M. Thome, on oath state that I served a copy of this Order on Counsel for
Respondent listed at the e-mail address shown below on September 10, 2019, at or before
5:00 p.m. At the same time, a copy of this Order was sent to Counsel for the Administrator by e-
mail service.

Sheldon M. Sorosky
Counsel for Respondent
soroskylaw@gmail.com

Subscribed and sworn to before me

this 10th day ofSeptember, 2019.

* UbL
Notary Public

"OFFICIAL SEAL-
ANDREA L. WATSON

Notary Public. State of Illinois
My Commission Expires05/10/2021
♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦

MAINLIBJM187808_vl

w^
Michelle M. Thome
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BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD

OF THE

ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION

AND

DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION

In the Matter of:

ROD R. BLAGOJEVICH,

Attorney-Respondent,

No. 6186764.

Commission No. 2019PR00061

ENTRY OF APPEARANCE AND ACCEPTANCE OF SERVICE

PURSUANT TO RULE 214(d)

I, Sheldon Mitchell Sorosky, hereby enter my appearance and agree to accept electronic

service of the Complaint, Notice of Complaint, Order Assigning Chairperson of the Hearing

Panel, Rules of the Supreme Court of Illinois and Pre-hearing Conference Procedures

Memorandum regarding the above captioned matter, and authorize the Administrator's staff to

file this document with the Clerk of the Commission.

DATED: mm

Name: Sheldon Mitchell Sorosky
Law Offices of Sheldon Sorosky, Ltd.

Address: 717 Ridge Road
Wilmette, IL 60091

Telephone: (847)251-1776
Email: soroskvlaw@email.com

MAINLIB_#l176700_vl

FILED
8/8/2019 9:24 AM

ARDC Clerk




